BIODEGRADATION OF N-HETEROCYCLIC AROMATIC HYDROCARBONS IN CONTAMINATED SOIL

Zhe Wang

A thesis submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in the Department of Environmental Sciences and Engineering.

Chapel Hill 2017

Approved by:

David R. Singleton

Michael D. Aitken

Jill R. Stewart

© 2017 Zhe Wang ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Zhe Wang: Biodegradation of N-Heterocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Contaminated Soil (Under the direction of David R. Singleton)

While progress has been made understanding the biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in contaminated soil, the fate of co-existing contaminants, such as nitrogen-containing heterocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (azaarenes) is rarely reported. Compared to their PAH analogues, azaarenes have higher toxicity and mobility in the environment, which might pose significant risk to public health. In this research, the fate of three azaarenes (carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine) in contaminated soil was investigated. Carbazole was degraded in both untreated soil and soil treated in a lab-scale aerobic bioreactor. For phenanthridine, co-metabolism with phenanthrene was a major mechanism for its removal from untreated soil. Both acridine and phenanthridine were not significantly removed in untreated soil when these compounds were examined individually, but were removed in the bioreactor. Overall, this study of the fate and biodegradation of three azaarenes in contaminated soil provided insights and potential for future research on bioremediation of azaarenescontaminated sites.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am extremely fortunate to be able to complete thesis under the support and guidance of Dr. David Singleton. He really set a model of scholarly research for me and the impacts from these valuable advice on me would beyond the boundary of science research. Surely, if it had not been for his valuable advice and stoic patience, nothing of this project can be achieved. In addition, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Michael Aitken who always supports me and provides me insightful advice in many aspects. Special thanks to Dr. Joaquim Vila Grajales for the sincere advice and guidance on my lab work. I am also grateful to Dr. Jill Stewart for serving in my committee and providing useful support on my project. Finally, my deepest thanks would also go to my beloved family, other group members, my friends, and professors of the ESE department for supporting me and helping me out of any difficulties.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES				
LIST OF FIGURES				
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1			
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	2			
A. Soil Contamination and Sites of Manufactured Gas Plants	2			
B. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	3			
1. Introduction of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	3			
2. Biodegradation of Phenanthrene and Anthracene	9			
C. N-Heterocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	12			
1. Carbazole	13			
a. Introduction of Carbazole	13			
b. Carbazole-Degrading Microorganisms	14			
c. Metabolic Pathways of Carbazole Degradation	21			
2. Acridine	26			
a. Introduction of Acridine	26			
b. Acridine-Degrading Microorganisms	27			
c. Metabolic Pathways of Acridine Degradation	29			
3. Phenanthridine	31			
a. Introduction of Phenanthridine	31			
b. Phenanthridine-Degrading Microorganisms	32			
c. Metabolic Pathways of Phenanthridine Degradation	33			

CHAPTER 3: METHODS				
A.	Chemicals	. 36		
B.	Soil Preparation	. 36		
C.	Quantification of Azaarenes	. 37		
D.	Isolation of Putative Azaarene-Degrading Bacteria	. 38		
E.	Growth Tests	. 41		
F.	Tests of Azaarene Concentration on Soil Microbial Activity	. 43		
G.	Chemical Analysis of PAH and Azaarene Disappearance in Soils	. 44		
H.	Molecular Analysis	. 45		
I.	Pure Culture Tests for Co-metabolism of Azaarene	. 46		
CHAI	PTER 4: RESULTS	. 48		
A.	HPLC Chromatogram for Identification of Three Azaarenes	. 48		
B.	Effects of Azaarene Concentration on Soil Microbial Activity	. 49		
C.	Co-Incubation of Azaarenes with Each Other and With PAHs	. 53		
D.	Transformation of Azaarenes by Isolates	. 57		
E.	Degradation Test of Azaarenes by Isolates	. 60		
F.	Community Analyses	. 62		
G.	Tests of Pure Cultures for Co-metabolism of Phenanthridine	. 67		
1	. Acidovorax sp. NA3	. 67		
2	. Immundisolibacter cernigliae TR3.2 ^T	. 68		
3	. Sphingobium sp. PAP1	. 69		
CHAI	CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION			
APPE	APPENDIX			
REFE	REFERENCES			

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. List of carbazole-degrading bacteria and fungi.	. 16
Table 2. Closest described relatives to 44 isolates based on partial 16S rRNA genes and the azaarene-transforming ability of those isolates.	. 59
Table A1. Re-growth of select strains on a variety of (mostly) aromatic carbon sources in the 96-well plate assay.	. 80

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Numbered structures and nomenclatures of the 16 PAHs on the EPA priority pollutant list.	5
Figure 2. Bay- and fjord-region of Dibenzo[a,l]pyrene	7
Figure 3. Numbered structure of 3 azaarenes: carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine	12
Figure 4. A proposed metabolic pathway for the degradation of carbazole through <i>Pseudomonas</i> spp. Strain CA06, CA10 and <i>Pseudomonas stutzeri</i> OM1	
Figure 5. Other proposed metabolic pathways for the degradation of Carbazole	
Figure 6. Proposed metabolic pathways for the degradation of acridine	
Figure 7. Proposed metabolic pathways for the degradation of phenanthridine	
Figure 8. List of carbon sources and distribution in 96-well plates	
Figure 9. HPLC chromatograms for stock mixtures of three azaarenes: carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine	
Figure 10. Typical standard curve of three azaarenes from HPLC analysis	49
Figure 11. Effects of two concentration of either carbazole (CAR), acridine (ACR), or phenanthridine (PHI) on the growth of microbes in feed soil (FS) or bioreactor-treated soil (BTS).	52
Figure 12. Concentration of azaarenes and PAHs in bioreactor-treated soil (BTS)	55
Figure 13. Concentrations of azaarenes and PAHs in feed soil samples (FS)	56
Figure 14. Negative image of the DGGE gel (1) of DNA extraction samples from incubations on testing co-metabolism of target azaarenes	65
Figure 15. Negative image of the DGGE gel (2) of DNA extraction samples from incubations on testing co-metabolism of target azaarenes	66
Figure 16. Removal of phenanthrene and phenanthridine from incubations of <i>Acidovorax</i> sp. NA3	67
Figure 17. Removal of anthracene, phenanthrene and phenanthridine from incubations of <i>Immundisolibacter cernigliae</i> TR3.2 ^T	68
Figure 18. Removal of phenanthrene and phenanthridine from incubations of <i>Sphingobium</i> sp. strain PAP1	69

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are a class of widespread chemical contaminants in the U.S. and remain a public health issue of nationwide concern. Since the 1980s, 16 PAHs selected by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) were categorized as part of "126 Priority Pollutants" regulated under the Clean Water Act. However, questions regarding the shortcomings of the list of 16 regulated PAHs now arise as some co-existing contaminants of PAHs, which may also be toxic, are not regulated and comprehensively studied [1]. Nitrogen-containing heterocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (also known as azaarenes) are one such category of contaminants that do not appear on the list of priority pollutants but have been reported toxic for public health and environmental quality. In this research, I investigated the fate and biodegradation of three azaarenes (carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine) in contaminated soil obtained from a former manufactured gas plant site in North Carolina. In particular, I began to examine the bacterial communities associated with the removal of these emerging contaminants through analytical chemistry, molecular and traditional microbiology methods. Despite the structural similarity of the three azaarenes, the different outcomes of the compounds during incubation suggests that different mechanisms and organisms might be involved in their degradation. Deeper understanding of the biodegradation patterns of these azaarenes and the microbial communities responsible for their degradation may contribute to developing an effective and sustainable plan for bioremediation of azaarene-contaminated sites.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Soil Contamination and Sites of Manufactured Gas Plants

With industrialization, the utilization of fossil fuels improved the quality of life, but also resulted in widespread soil contamination of toxic components and byproducts [2]. While some of these contaminants are present at low levels in the soil due to natural processes, they pose a greater risk to human and ecosystem health at high concentrations [3]. Anthropogenic sources are the major contributors to high levels of fossil fuel-derived soil contaminants [4]. Inorganic soil pollutants, including heavy metals such as Cu, Ni, Cd, Zn, Cr, and Pb, from sources such as mine waste and industrial sewage sludge are also known to result in adverse health outcomes and reduce soil quality [5, 6]. Organic pollutants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are widely distributed in the environment, and are especially present in high concentrations in fossil fuels and their byproducts. Potential health risks caused by soil contaminants may result in adverse health outcomes through direct exposure to contaminated soil, or through indirect sources such as injection in water and food previously in direct contact with polluted soil [7]. Short-term exposure of soil contaminants like PAHs and heavy metals can cause acute symptoms like nausea and vomiting, whereas long-term exposure of these contaminants might be related to kidney/liver damage and cancer [8-10]. Many industrial sites in the U.S require decontamination considering the risk for human health and environment posed by toxic contaminants at those locations. These contaminated sites may be divided into several categories according to United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA), such as RCRA sites (under Resource

Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976) and Superfund sites (under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980) [11].

Manufactured gas plants (MGPs) provided manufactured gas as an energy source to U.S. residents from the early 1800s through the mid-1900s [12]. The sites of former MGPs often become an environmental issue due to residual toxic contaminants leftover from the production process. Many toxic products, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), benzene, and cyanide, resulted from the production of manufactured gas, which included a coal carbonization process, carburetted water gas process, and oil gas process [13]. For example, an oil gas process would thermal-crack oil produced from a carburetted water gas process to obtain the raw manufactured gas [14]. The raw gas was accepted by a vaporizer for the purpose of enrichment and then heated prior to distribution. Unavoidably, tars containing PAHs and other heterocyclic aromatic hydrocarbon compounds would also be produced at this stage.

B. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

1. Introduction of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

PAHs are among the more common contaminants at MGP sites [15]. They are a large group of lipophilic (hydrophobic) organic compounds comprised of two or more fused aromatic rings and different configurations (linear, angular, or cluster arrangements) (Figure 1) [16, 17]. PAHs with 2 or 3 rings, such as naphthalene (2 rings), phenanthrene (3 rings), and anthracene (3 rings), can be classified as low-molecular-weight (LMW) compounds, whereas PAHs with 4 or more rings, such as chrysene and pyrene (4 rings) are generally considered as high-molecular-weight (HMW) PAHs. HMW PAHs pose greater risk to human health as they are more toxic, recalcitrant, and carcinogenic than LMW PAHs [18]. Researchers have also found that HMW PAHs are the major PAH contaminants (80%-90%) distributed around the world [19]. Removal

of total PAHs from contaminated sites is extremely difficult considering their toxicity and the low bioavailability of HMW PAHs. Besides the production of manufactured gas and the use of creosote to treat wood, PAHs come from the incomplete combustion of either other organic materials including plant biomass (phytogenic) and petroleum (petrogenic or pyrogenic) due to either anthropogenic or natural reasons [20]. Estimating the sources of PAH contamination is possible through plotting ratios of certain combination of PAHs (e.g. anthracene/anthracene+ phenanthrene) [21].

PAHs are not only found at industrial sites around the world, but also in a wider range of locations, such as tropical and even polar areas due to their atmospheric transportability [22]. Despite the ubiquitous distribution of PAHs in the air, water, soil, and river/ocean sediments, researchers have found that more than 90% of PAHs are present in the soil, especially those associated with industrial sites [23]. Former MGP sites can contain as much as 17,000 mg·kg⁻¹ total PAHs, more than other industrialized sites, including wood preserving and treatment sites, coking plants, manufacturing zones, and petrochemical plants [19]. While the majority of PAHs in the soil are sorbed to soil particles, the mobility of PAHs cannot be ignored [24, 25]. Sorbent particle size and the pore throat size (the smallest opening between individual grains of soil) are two key factors determining the mobilization of PAHs in soil, while the tendency of a PAH to sorb to soil is affected by the octanol–water partitioning coefficient of the PAH [26].



Figure 1. Numbered structures and nomenclatures of the 16 PAHs on the EPA priority pollutant list. The names of 6 PAHs classified as carcinogens by National Toxicity Program (NTP) are bolded [27].

PAHs in the environment might cause health issues through multiple exposure routes, such as ingestion, dermal, and inhalation [28]. The lipophilic property of PAHs means that these chemicals can potentially be detected in most internal organs. Organs with adipose tissue are the major storage compartments for PAHs within the body [29]. According to the National Toxicity Program (NTP), six of the sixteen EPA priority PAHs are classified as human carcinogens (Figure 1) [27]. Other PAHs may also be carcinogenic, but cannot be classified as such due to inadequate evidence. Yet several PAHs that are not considered carcinogenic, such as naphthalene, acenaphthene and pyrene, have been reported as toxic compounds with mutagenic or cytotoxic characteristics [30]. PAHs are viewed as human carcinogens due to the formation of highly reactive metabolites which are able to combine with nuclear DNA [31]. The formation of these reactive metabolites is normally associated with the activity of cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. This superfamily of heme-thiolate enzymes encoded by cytochrome P450 genes has the key function in living organisms of metabolizing xenobiotics by forming either detoxified hydrophilic metabolites or sometimes more toxic metabolites [32]. Members of CYP superfamily of enzymes, such as CYP1A1 and CYP1B1, were reported to play an essential role in metabolizing PAHs in the body to form carcinogenic diol-epoxides under the co-function of epoxide hydrolase [33]. Diol-epoxides metabolites are able to bind to nuclear DNA to form adducts that cause further mutation and even cancer. Metabolites of PAHs with stereoisomeric bay or fjord regions are believed more reactive than others and have been called ultimate mutagenic and carcinogenic metabolites (Figure 2) [34]. However, some PAHs (e.g. anthracene) do not possess bay or fjord regions and might still be able to cause DNA damage [35]. The toxicity of PAHs with more than seven rings is still not clear, but normally the toxicity of PAHs would increase with the number of rings [30]. Metabolized PAHs within the human body are converted to polar molecules, such as glucuronides, sulfuric acids, and glutathione, to be excreted from the body as urine.



Figure 2. Bay- and fjord-regions of dibenzo[*a*,*l*]pyrene.

The fate of PAHs in the soil can vary depending on the environmental conditions and the characteristics of the PAH. These include photooxidation, volatilization, chemical oxidation, adsorption to soil particles, leaching, bioaccumulation, and biodegradation [36]. Biodegradation is one of the most studied approaches for dealing with the challenges of PAH contamination. Especially in recent years, researchers have realized that a natural biological degradation process can be an effective remediation strategy to remove pollutants like PAHs and minimize the remedy carbon footprint.

Biodegradation of PAHs can happen either aerobically or anaerobically [37-39]. However, the rates of anaerobic biodegradation are typically slower than the biodegradation under aerobic conditions and the ecological function of anaerobic biodegradation was presumed to be minor historically [40, 41]. In spite of recent research progress revealing the unique role of anaerobic biodegradation under certain environmental conditions, such as when the oxygen demand exceeds its supply in natural environments, most attention has been focused on aerobic processes [42].

To comprehensively understand the biodegradation processes of PAHs in the soil, the isolation, cultivation, and identification of relevant pure cultures of aerobic and anaerobic PAH-

degrading microorganism provides information on the growth conditions and PAH growth substrates for microorganisms [43]. Contrary to metabolism of PAHs by fungi which is based on extracellular enzymes secreted outside cells to break down bonds of PAHs, metabolism of PAHs by bacteria is achieved by intracellular enzymes [43]. Therefore bioavailable PAHs, such as those dissolved in water or in the vapor phase, can be taken up by bacteria [44, 45]. Soil structure, other environmental factors (e.g. water, temperature, pH, and nutrients) and bioavailability of PAHs in the soil are all key factors affecting the biodegradation process. Bioavailability can be determined by the rate of substrate mass transfer into microbial cells with respect to the its intrinsic catabolic activity [43]. Bioavailability can be a limiting factor when the capacity of the cells consuming a PAH exceeds the capacity of acquiring this PAH from outside environment. As a result, substrate concentrations in the aqueous phase that can be consumed by microbes would be reduced significantly. Moreover, when PAHs sorb onto soil particles or enter non-aqueous phase liquids (NAPLs), the degradation of PAHs would be difficult as enzymes used by bacteria for the degradation of PAHs would not be able to encounter PAHs in these phases [26]. Solubility is one of the key factors affecting bioavailability. In addition, bioavailability of a certain PAH compound is also reliant on the variability of desorption rates for different PAHs over different time periods [46]. Normally, PAHs are desorbed from solid materials quickly at the start, but the process of desorption would then become slow as concentration gradients between the sorbent and aqueous phases decrease [47].

Three biodegradation patterns are reported to be the major mechanisms associated with metabolism of multiple compounds: diauxie, simultaneous utilization, and competitive inhibition. Diauxie, or sequential utilization, was first described by Monod to indicate that the presence of multiple substrates might result in sequential degradation with gene regulation

determining which substrate would be preferentially used [48]. For example, the presence of ethylbenzene was reported to inhibit the metabolism of a Rhodococcus strain growing on other BTEX substrates [49]. Simultaneous utilization of substrates may lead to cell growth, but might also cause the degradation of compounds without cell growth. The pattern of simultaneous utilization of substrates without cell growth is considered as co-metabolism [50]. As a nonspecific enzymatic mechanism, co-metabolism can be described as the reaction that occurs when a contaminant is fortuitously degraded by an enzyme or co-factor synthesized as a result of degradation process from another structurally similar primary substrate. Co-metabolic remediation was found to be useful to degrade contaminants when their concentration was too low to be the growth substrate for certain bacteria [51]. It has also reportedly been involved in the degradation process of very recalcitrant contaminants, such as HMW PAHs, trichloroethylene (TCE), tetrachloroethylene (PCE), and methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) [52]. Finally, competitive inhibition can be a process in which non-specific enzymes preferentially attack contaminants which are more easily degraded while more recalcitrant contaminants persist [53]. For instance, naphthalene, methylnaphthalene, and fluorene are frequently competitive substrates with phenanthrene for phenanthrene-degrading bacteria [54].

2. Biodegradation of Phenanthrene and Anthracene

The knowledge of biodegradation on phenanthrene and anthracene in contaminated soil are essential to this research due to their structural similarity to two azaarenes (phenanthridine and acridine, respectively) studied in this work. Therefore, a brief review of the known degrading-microorganisms and metabolic pathways of phenanthrene and anthracene is warranted.

As one of the more widely distributed PAHs, phenanthrene is viewed as a model compound for studies of biodegradation of LMW-PAHs. A variety of bacteria have been reported capable of metabolizing phenanthrene either directly or indirectly (e.g. through cometabolism). Bacterial strains from the genera *Mycobacterium* [55, 56], *Vibrio* [57], *Pseudomonas* [57, 58], *Aeromonas* [57, 59], *Sphingomonas* [60, 61], *Sphingobium* [62], *Arthrobacter* [63], *Acidovorax* [61, 63], *Brevibacterium* [63], *Burkholderia* [64], *Martelella* [65], *Nocardia* [66], *Streptomyces* [67] *Staphylococcus* [68] and *Sinorhizobium* sp. [69] are all reported to degrade phenanthrene. Fungal representatives, such as *Cunninghamella elegans* and *Pleurotus ostreatus*, are also capable of metabolizing phenanthrene [70, 71]. It is noteworthy that several members of the Sphingomonads (including *Sphingomonas*, *Sphingobium*, *Sphingopyxis* and *Novosphingobium* spp.) are actively involved in the degradation of phenanthrene and are extremely important phenanthrene-degrading bacteria in soil [72].

The metabolic pathways of phenanthrene degradation have been intensively researched. Members of the Sphingomonads and *Pseudomonas* genus are capable of synthesizing aromatic ring-hydroxylating dioxygenase (ARHD) enzymes to target either the 1,2- or 3,4- position of phenanthrene forming *cis*-1,2-dihydroxy-1,2-dihydrophenanthrene or *cis*-3,4-dihydroxy-3,4-dihydrophenanthrene, respectively [59, 60, 72-74]. These metabolites are then converted to 1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid after a series of reactions [60, 74, 75]. Two different cleavage pathways have been found for 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid/1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid in different bacteria. In one, an *ortho*-cleavage pathway produces protocatechuate modulated by intradiol cleavage enzymes. In the second, a *meta*-cleavage pathway with the production of salicylate and catechol is modulated by extradiol cleavage enzymes [72]. While most phenanthrene-degrading bacteria are able to metabolize phenanthrene through one of these

pathways, *Streptomyces flavovirens* was reported to use a different pathway by attacking the 9,10- position (K-region) of phenanthrene under the modulation of cytochrome P-450 monooxygenase to produce phenanthrene-9,10-oxide [67]. 9-Phenanthrol was then formed after the conversion of phenanthrene-9,10-oxide to trans-9,10-dihydrodiolphenanthrene.

Anthracene is also widely detected at contaminated sites at high concentrations and is isomeric with phenanthrene [76]. Several bacteria have been reported to utilize anthracene as source of carbon and energy, including strains from the genera *Pseudomonas* [77, 78], *Mycobacterium* [79, 80], *Rhodococcus* [81], *Sphingomonas* [82], *Nocardia* [66], *Bacillus* [83], *Microbacterium* [84], *Martelella* [65], *Brevibacterium* [85], *Burkholderia* [86]. Fungi, such as *Cunninghamella elegans*, *Aspergillus fumigatus*, *Pleurotus ostreatus*, *Fusarium solani*, and *Penicillium simplicissimum*, are also capable of metabolizing anthracene [70, 87-89].

One of the major biodegradation pathways of anthracene has been described with the initial dioxygenation at the 1,2 position to produce 1,2-dihydroxyanthracene [80]. This dihydroxylated metabolite is further transformed to 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid after a series of metabolizing steps. The subsequent pathway was proposed as the phthalate pathway [66, 79, 81]. Monohydroxyanthracene was detected as a side product in *Sphingomonas* sp. strain LB126 [90] which might be produced due to a side reaction with 1,2-dihydroxyanthracene as the major intermediate of the degradation. Another pathway proposed the dioxygenation of anthracene at the 9,10- positions to form 9,10-dihydrodiol [79]. Degradation of anthracene by fungi adopt a different metabolic pathway with some fungi capable of metabolizing anthracene to 9,10-anthraquinone prior to the formation of phthalic acid, modulated by extracellular peroxidase enzyme [87].

C. N-Heterocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

N-heterocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (NHAs) - also known as nitrogen-containing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, N-PAHs, PANHs, or azaarenes, are a class of organic molecules which can be toxic and are widely distributed in a broad range of environments including air, soil, and water systems [1, 91, 92]. Similar to PAHs, the major sources of azaarenes include incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, coal liquefaction, volcanic eruptions, forest fires, uncontrolled hazardous industries, and oily sludge [93]. Azaarenes have strong molecular bonds and π -electrons surrounding benzene rings, so they have the characteristics of being both highly recalcitrant and resistant to nucleophilic attack [43]. Microorganisms are involved in the removal of azaarenes at contaminated sites, and a variety of studies have been conducted on the biodegradation of various azaarenes such as carbazole, acridine, quinolone, pyridine, and phenanthridine. Accordingly, numerous microorganisms involved in the degradation of azaarenes have been reported [94]. Despite the fact that azaarenes can be putative human carcinogens and usually have greater toxicity on microorganisms than their PAH analogues, the fate, behavior and biodegradation of these compounds are still not fully understood [95, 96]. This research is aimed to investigate the fate and behavior of three, threering azaarenes, including carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine, in the contaminated soil (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Structures of 3 azaarenes of interest in this research.

1. Carbazole

a. Introduction of Carbazole

Carbazole is an azaarene often present in soil, groundwater, and rivers contaminated by petroleum, wood-preserving wastes, or chemical pollution [97-99]. The sources of carbazole are mainly coal tars, creosote and shale oils, which contain many heterocyclic aromatic compounds [100]. Thousands of tons of carbazole are produced each year from coal tar and crude oil under high temperatures [101].

Carbazole and its derivatives are close to our daily life. It is commonly found in synthetic products such as dyes, pharmaceuticals, and plastics. It is also used to make photographic plates that are sensitive to ultraviolet light. The manufacturing process of some industrial products, including chemical reagents, pesticides, medicines and plastics require carbazole or its derivatives [101]. The structure of carbazole (Figure 3) is similar to dibenzofuran, which is mutagenic and toxic to living organisms [102]. The carcinogenic effect of carbazole tested in mice indicated that carbazole itself is a carcinogen [103]. Other previous reports have also shown that carbazole can be both mutagenic and carcinogenic [104, 105].

Given that the broad distribution of carbazole and its putative toxic and highly recalcitrant properties, there have been many studies on its degradation, including finding effective ways to remove it from the environment. Many studies concerning the transformation of carbazole have been conducted in the past 30 years - mostly on microbial degradation. Details concerning specific carbazole-degrading microorganisms and degradation pathways are discussed in the next sections.

b. Carbazole-Degrading Microorganisms

A number of different microbes have been reported for their ability to degrade carbazole (Table 1), although their role in the bioremediation of carbazole from contaminated sites is typically not known. Among these various carbazole degraders, most are Gram-type negative bacteria, with only a few Gram-type positive.

In 1991, the first reported carbazole degrader was isolated from the soil of an abandoned coal gasification plant and was identified as a *Xanthamonas* sp. After growing the pure culture, the strain was reintroduced into contaminated soil [93]. The degradation of carbazole was enhanced to nearly 50% by these reintroduced bacteria after 7 days in comparison with little carbazole degradation observed for the indigenous bacteria. The process of degradation enhanced by additional bacteria, or bioaugmentation, is one approach to soil bioremediation [106].

Sphingomonads possess a wide variety of biodegradative capabilities and have the potential to be utilized for bioremediation. In 2001, four genera were proposed from the thencurrent *Sphingomonas* genus comprising the new genera *Sphingomonas*, *Sphingobium*, *Novosphingobium*, and *Sphingopyxis* [107]. In addition to their ability to degrade phenanthrene and anthracene as mentioned above, many researchers have found strains of *Sphingomonas* that could also degrade other substrates, such as carbazole, dibenzofuran, dibenzothiophene, and benzothiophene through the process of co-metabolism [108]. *Sphingomonas* sp. strain CDH-7 was isolated during a screen of nearly 350 samples from soil, wastewater, and petroleum oil sludge collected by researchers. [109]. It used carbazole as a sole source of carbon and resting cells of *Sphingomonas* sp. CDH-7 were found to continuously degrade carbazole. The bacterium *Sphingomonas wittichii* strain RW1 is also noted for its ability to degrade many kinds of xenobiotics, including carbazole [101]. Before it was reported as a carbazole degrader,

Sphingomonas wittichii RW1 was viewed as an important species for its valuable ability to use dibenzo-p-dioxin and dibenzofuran as the sole sources of carbon and energy [110, 111]. Interestingly, while an initial study showed that purified dibenzofuran 4,4a-dioxygenase of strain RW1 was incapable of oxygenating carbazole, researchers re-tested *Sphingomonas wittichii* RW1 and discovered that the color of the culture suspension in minimum salts medium (MSM) containing carbazole changed in a time-dependent manner - indicating that strain RW1 was actually capable of degrading carbazole [101]. *Sphingomonas* sp. strain XLDN2-5 (reclassified as *Sphingobium yanoikuyae* strain XLDN2-5) [108] is not only able to degrade carbazole, but also can co-metabolically catabolize dibenzofuran, dibenzothiophene, and benzothiophene [112].

Bacteria within the genus *Pseudomonas* are viewed as significant for health, agriculture, biotechnology, and environmental science due to their great adaptability [113]. Many researchers are interested in using *Pseudomonas* isolates for bioremediation given their ability to degrade various organic compounds, including carbazole [114]. Research on the carbazole-degrading *Pseudomonas* spp. strains CA06 and CA10 the first described pathway of carbazole degradation [115]. These isolates were able to degrade carbazole to anthranilate and 2-hydroxypenta-2,4-dienoate via the process of angular dioxygenation, *meta*-cleavage, and hydrolysis. More details of the degradation pathway are described in the next section. Another isolate of *Pseudomonas*, named strain XLDN4-9, showed the ability to degrade carbazole in an oil phase [116].

Time of report	Name of the strain	Major metabolites
1986	Cunninghamella elegans ATCC 26269 [117]	-
1992	Cunninghamella echinulata ATCC 9244 [118]	-
1993	Pseudomonas sp. CA06, CA10 [115]	Anthranilic acid, Catechol
1993	Pseudomonas sp. NCIB 9816-4 [119]	3-hydroxycarbazole
1994	Pseudomonas stutzeri ATCC31258 [120]	Anthranilic acid
1995	Bacillus sp. KUKK-4,5 [121]	-
	Pseudomonas sp. KUKK-1,2,3,8 [121]	-
	Escherichia coli KUKK-6 [121]	-
	Serratia sp. KUKK-7 [121]	-
1995	Pseudomonas cepacia F297 [122]	-
1995	Burkholderia cepacia CB1 [123]	-
	Xanthamonas sp. CB2 [123]	-
	Pseudomonas sp. CB3 [123]	-
1996	Pseudomonas sp. LD2 [124]	Anthranilic acid
1998	Pseudomonas stutzeri OM1 [125]	Anthranilic acid, Catechol
1998	Sphingomonas sp. CB3 [126]	-
1999	Sphingomonas sp. CDH-7 [109]	Anthranilic acid
2000	Ralstonia sp. RJGII.123 [127]	Anthranilic acid
2002	Pseudomonas rhodesiae KK1 [128]	Anthranilic acid
2002	Sphingomonas sp. strain KA1 [129]	-
2002	Sphingomonas sp. GTIN11 [130]	Anthranilic acid
2003	Neptuniibacter sp. CAR-SF [131]	-
2003	Sphingomonas sp. CP19 [132]	-
2003	Pseudomonas sp. C3211 [133]	-
2004	Janibacter sp. YY-1 [134]	Catechol
2004	Pseudomonas sp. K23, K22, K15, J11 [135]	-
	Janthinobacterium sp. J3, J4 [135]	-
	Pantoea sp. J14 [135]	-
	Novosphingobium sp. J30 [135]	-
	Sphingomonas sp. J40, M2 [135]	-
2004	Pseudomonas sp. XLDN4-9 [116]	-
2004	Aspergillus flavus VKM F-1024 [136]	3-hydroxycarbazole
2005	Acinetobacter sp. IC001 [137]	-
	Pseudomonas sp. IC017 [137]	-
	<i>Sphingomonas</i> sp. IC033,IC075, IC081, IC097, IC145 [137]	-
	Burkholderia sp. IC049, IC129, IC138 [137]	-
	Achromobacter sp. IC074 [137]	-
	Erythrobacter sp. IC114 [137]	-
	Janthinobacterium sp. IC161 [137]	-

Table 1 List of carbazole-degrading bacteria and fungi.

	Stenotrophomonas sp. IC193 [137]	-
	Marinobacterium sp. IC961, IC977 [137]	-
	Nocardioides aromaticivorans IC177 [137]	Anthranilic acid
2006	Bacillus sp. T2.3-2.6, T3.1, T3.3, T4.1-4.3 T6.1-6.6, T7.0 [138]	-
2006	Gordonia sp. F.5.25.8 [139]	-
2006	Arthrobacter sp. P1-1 [140]	Anthranilic acid
2006	Burkholderia sp. IMP5GC [141]	-
2007	Sphingobium yanoikuyae XLDN2-5 [142]	-
2008	Sphingomonas sp. VKM B-2434 [143]	-
2008	Novosphingobium sp. NIY3 [144]	Anthranilic acid
2008	Klebsiella sp. strain LSSE-H2 [145]	-
2008	Chryseobacterium sp. NCY and Achromobacter sp. NCW [146]	-
2009	Kordiimonas sp. OC3, OC6S, OC9, OC11S [147]	-
	Erythrobacter sp. OC4, OC8S [147]	-
	Hyphomonas sp. OC5 [147]	-
	Sphingosinicella sp. OC5S [147]	-
	Caulobacter sp. OC6, OC10 [147]	-
	Lysobacter sp. OC7 [147]	-
2009	Sphingomonas sp. JS1 [148]	-
2009	Ralstonia sp. strain SBUG 290 [149]	1-hydroxycarbazole 3-hydroxycarbazole
2011	Enterobacter sp. A8 [150]	-
2011	Sphingomonas wittichii RW1 [151]	Anthranilic acid, Catechol
2011	Acinetobacter spp. Alp6, Alp7 [91]	-
2011	Pseudomonas BC039-046 [152]	-
2011	Pseudoxanthomonas sp. DMVP2 [153]	-
2012	Achromobacter sp. CAR1389 [154]	Anthranilic acid
2013	Pseudomonas sp. GBS.5 [155]	-
2014	Achromobacter sp. SL1 [113]	Anthranilic acid, Catechol
	Pseudomonas sp. SL4 [113]	Anthranilic acid, Catechol
	Microbacterium esteraromaticum SL6 [113]	Anthranilic acid, Catechol
	Stenotrophomonas maltophilia B _A [113]	-
2015	Cunninghamella IM 1785/21Gp, 2611 and DSM8217 [156]	2-hydroxycarbazole

Table 1 (continued) List of carbazole-degrading bacteria and fungi.

In crude oil, carbazole is often present with its alkylated derivatives [104]. These alkyl derivatives often have monomethyl, dimethyl, trimethyl, and tetramethyl side chains on different carbon positions of carbazole (called C1-, C2-, and C3-, C4-carbazoles, respectively). One study showed that mixed bacterial cultures were able to degrade alkyl carbazoles (from C1- to C4- carbazoles) in crude oil within eight days, and also showed that the alkyl-carbazoles were easier to degrade as the number of substituted alkyl groups became fewer [157]. However, pure cultures rarely degrade alkylated derivatives in an oil phase with few exceptions; One example is that *Sphingomonas* sp. strain GTIN11 was demonstrated to degrade carbazole and C1-carbazoles in shale oil [130]. *Pseudomonas* sp. strain XLDN4-9 was also capable of degrading carbazole, C1-carbazoles, C2-carbazoles, and even benzocarbazoles, but it was shown that carbazole was harder to degrade than either C1-carbazoles and C2-carbazoles [158].

Ammonium can be produced by bacteria as a by-product during the degradation of carbazole [109, 159]. The production of ammonium has also been observed in the biodegradation of other nitrogen heterocyclic compounds due to nitrogen bio-transformation, including the compounds pyridine and quinoline [160]. Researchers have isolated seven strains, all identified as *Pseudomonas* species, which could not only degrade carbazole efficiently, but also showed nitrification and denitrification ability [152]. Before that report, the capabilities of nitrification and denitrification by carbazole-degrading bacteria was rarely reported. These seven isolates, named *Pseudomonas* sp. BC 039 through *Pseudomonas* sp. BC 046, were identified as distinct strains by 16S rRNA gene analysis [152]. Six of them were capable of producing NH₄⁺–N by transforming carbazole. They also possessed nitrite reductase genes (*nirS*) and the nitrous oxide reductase genes (*nosZ*) that contribute to the denitrification process. However, the pathway for denitrification by these carbazole degraders were different between each other. Some strains

utilized NO_3^--N and NO_2^--N simultaneously, while others had a preference for utilizing NO_3^--N . This study indicated that further understanding the process of nitrification and/or denitrification process by carbazole-degrading bacteria can also contribute to efforts for controlling the release of ammonium to the environment.

Thus far, much of the work on carbazole degraders was performed with isolates identified as *Sphingomonas* and *Pseudomonas* species. However, isolates from other Gram-type negative genera can also degrade carbazole. *Achromobacter* species were demonstrated to degrade a wide range of xenobiotics and were specialized to degrade compounds such as hydrocarbons and PAHs [161-164]. Reports have shown that *Achromobacter* sp. strains IC074 [137], CAR1389 [154], and SL1 [113] can metabolize carbazole. Remarkably, strain CAR1389 was capable of growing on nominal 3.5 g·L⁻¹ of carbazole in a minimal medium (MM) and degrading nearly half that amount [154]. Before this discovery, carbazole-degrading bacteria capable of growing at such high concentrations of carbazole were rarely reported [165]. This finding also suggested that carbazole might not have a strong inhibitory effect on the activity of strain CAR1389 even though the concentration of carbazole was extremely high.

Additional Gram-type negative carbazole degraders include *Burkholderia cepacia* strain CB1 [123], *Escherichia coli* strain KUKK-6, *Serratia* sp. strain KUKK-7 [121], *Ralstonia* sp. strain RJGII.123 (formerly *Xanthomonas* sp.) [93, 127], *Janthinobacterium* sp. strain J3 and strain J4, *Pantoea* sp. strain J14, *Novosphingobium* sp. strain J30 [135], *Burkholderia* sp. strain IMP5GC [141], *Klebsiella* sp. strain LSSE-H2 [145], *Novosphingobium* sp. strain NIY3 [166], *Acinetobacter* strains Alp6 and Alp7 [91], *Enterobacter* sp. strain A8 [150], *Microbacterium esteraromaticum* strain SL6, and *Stenotrophomonas* maltophilia strain B_A [113].

Several Gram-type positive bacteria have been reported as carbazole degraders. The carbazole degrader *Nocardioides aromaticivorans* strain IC177 was used to study the genes and metabolic pathway of carbazole degradation [159]. The test results indicated that the carbazole catabolic genes of strain IC177 were similar to those of Gram-type negative bacteria, such as *Pseudomonas* spp. strain CA10 and *Janthinobacterium* sp. strain J3. Other Gram-type positive carbazole degraders include *Bacillus* sp. strain KUKK-4,5 [121], *Janibacter* sp. strain YY-1 [134], *Arthrobacter* sp. strain P1-1 [140], *Bacillus* sp. strains T2.3 to T2.6, T3.1 and T3.3, T4.1 to T4.3, T6.1 to T6.6, and T7.0 [138], *Gordonia* sp. strain F.5.25.8 [139], and *Dietzia cinnamea* strain P4 [167]. The genome sequence of *Dietzia cinnamea* strain P4 has been reported and genes encoding enzymes for the degradation of aromatic hydrocarbons have been identified [168].

Not only pure cultures have been reported to degrade carbazole. A microbial consortium consisting of *Chryseobacterium* sp. strain NCY and *Achromobacter* sp. strain NCW was reported to utilize carbazole as the sole source of carbon, nitrogen, and energy [146]. However, neither of the pure strains NCY and NCW were able to degrade carbazole individually. The possible explanation reported for this phenomenon was neither strain NCY nor NCW possessed a complete pathway to transform carbazole.

Another kind of microorganism with the ability to metabolize carbazole are filamentous fungi, which often play an important role in the biodegradation process [169]. However, compared to bacterial research, studies concerning filamentous fungi for carbazole degradation and its derivatives are less common. At least two fungal genera have been reported to degrade carbazole, *Cunnighamella* species and *Aspergillus flavus* VKM F-1024 [118, 136, 156, 170].

c. Metabolic Pathways of Carbazole Degradation

Though the characterized carbazole degraders belong to multiple species, the research on metabolic pathway and enzymes linked to degradation was limited to only a few strains, such as *Pseudomonas resinovorans* strain CA10 and *Sphingomonas* sp. strain CB3 [115, 123, 126]. In this section, the pathway and genes relative to carbazole degradation are described.

Pseudomonas spp. CA06 and CA10 were first used to determine a pathway for the biodegradation of carbazole (Figure 4) [115]. Two main metabolites, anthranilic acid (AN) and catechol (CAT), were found in the medium after analysis by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Further experiments showed that CAT was detected when AN was used as the substrate. Additional analyses identified metabolites including 2'-aminobiphenyl-2,3-diol and 2-hydroxy-6-oxo-6-(2'aminophenyl)-hexa-2,4-dienoic acid (HOADA). The proposed pathway begins with the dioxygenation of carbazole at an angular position adjacent to the nitrogen atom. The product is a dihydroxylated intermediate which is converted to 2'-aminobiphenyl-2,3-diol spontaneously. 2'aminobiphenyl-2,3-diol is converted to HOADA before hydrolysis to AN via a ortho-cleavage pathway. AN is a non-toxic substrate relatively easily degraded by microbes and can be used as a substrate in tryptophan biosynthesis [171, 172]. The final step of the carbazole pathway includes the conversion of AN to CAT through ortho-cleavage, to an intermediate of the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) [173, 174]. Interestingly, Pseudomonas stutzeri OM1 had a meta-ring-cleavage pathway via conversion of CAT to 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde [125].

The pathway that uses an angular dioxygenase acting on the 9a and 1 carbons of carbazole is a relatively common route for carbazole biodegradation. The genes for this pathway have been well characterized in *Pseudomonas resinovorans* CA10 [175]. Carbazole 1,9a-

dioxygenase (CarA or CARDO) is the first enzyme to participate in the reaction of carbazole oxidation. CarA can participate in several oxygenation reactions involving a large range of substrates and can also participate in monooxygenation reactions [174, 176]. CarA can not only oxidize carbazole, but also dibenzofuran (DBF), fluorene, naphthalene, and biphenyl [155]. The major product of CarA in carbazole dioxygenation is 2-aminobiphenyl-2,3-diol.



Figure 4. A proposed metabolic pathway for the degradation of carbazole through *Pseudomonas* spp. strain CA06, CA10 and *Pseudomonas stutzeri* OM1 [115, 125]. 1. Carbazole (CAR); 2. 2'-aminobiphenyl-2,3-diol; 3. 2-hydroxy-6-oxo-6-(2'-aminophenyl)hexa-2,4-dienoic acid; 4. 6-dioxo-6-(2'-aminophenyl)hexa-4-enoic acid; 5. 2-hydroxy-4-pentenoate; 6. AN; 7. CAT; 8. *cis,cis*-muconate; 9. 6-oxo-6-(2'-aminophenyl)hexa-4-enoic acid; 10. 5-oxo-5-(2'-aminophenyl)penta-3-enoic acid; 11. 2-hydroxy-6-oxo-6-(2'-aminophenyl)hexanoic acid; 12. 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde. Compound within bracket was not detected.

A functional CarA enzyme depends on three gene products, including CarAa (a catalytic oxygenase containing a Rieske [2Fe–2S] cluster and a mononuclear iron domain), CarAc (a ferredoxin component, containing a Rieske [2Fe–2S] cluster), and CarAd (a reductase component for electron transfer, containing FAD and [2Fe–2S] cluster) [177]. 2-aminobiphenyl-

2,3-diol 1,2-dioxygenase (CarB) is the second major enzyme that participates in the metabolization of carbazole. It is a multicomponent *meta*-cleavage dioxygenase encoded by both *carBa* and *carBb* genes [178]. CarB can metabolize 2-aminobiphenyl-2,3-diol to form HOADA. CarC is the third enzyme encoded by the *carC* gene and transforms HOADA to produce anthranilic acid via hydrolysis. CarC is also able to convert 2-hydroxy-6-oxo-6-(2,9-aminophenyl)-hexa-2,4-dienoic acid to a minor metabolite 2-hydroxypenta-2,4-dienoic acid [165]. CarD, which is a 2-hydroxypenta-2,4-dienoate hydratase, converts 2-hydroxypenta-2,4-dienoic acid to 4-hydroxy-2-oxovaleric acid, CarE which is a 4-hydroxy-2-oxovalerate aldolase then converts 4-hydroxy-2-oxovaleric acid to acetaldehyde and pyruvic acid, and CarF which is an acetaldehyde dehydrogenase that can then transform acetaldehyde to acetyl coenzyme A are all major enzymes encoded by single genes that were involved in the degradation of carbazole [175].

Bacterial dioxygenases often play an important role in the first step of azaarene metabolization [170]. Researchers found that naphthalene 1,2-dioxygenase (NDO) obtained from *Pseudomonas* sp. strain NCIB 9816-4 strain and biphenyl dioxygenase (BPO) from *Beijerinckia* sp. strain B8/36 can both oxidize carbazole [119]. The oxidation product 3-hydroxycarbazole was found after further analysis, while no further intermediates were detected, such as unstable *cis*-carbazole-3,4-dihydrodiol. Products of dioxygenation may therefore be further metabolized via direct monooxygenation process.

The filamentous fungi *Aspergillus flavus* and *Cunninghamella echinulate* were reported to metabolize carbazole to products different from those produced from bacterial isolates, including some monohydroxylated products [118, 136]. *Aspergillus flavus* VKM F-1024 has the ability to metabolize carbazole through its fungal monooxygenase system (Figure 5). Further

study demonstrated that 3-hydroxycarbazole was the main metabolite of carbazole degradation while 1-hydroxycarbazole and 2-hydroxycarbazole could also be detected as minor products. Carbazole derivatives in dihydroxylated forms mainly comprised 2,6-hydroxycarbazole. *Aspergillus flavus* could also transform N-benzoylcarbazole and N-acetylcarbazole. The metabolites of these two carbazole derivatives included carbazole, and small amounts of 1hydroxycarbazole, 2-hydroxycarbazole, and 3-hydroxycarbazole. According to these results, the substitutent moiety influenced the position of hydroxylation. One report showed that *Cunnighamella elegans* could also oxidize carbazole to produce 3-hydroxycarbazole [117]. As shown above, filamentous fungi can introduce hydroxyl groups in different positions of the carbazole ring. The monohydroxylation products can be viewed as a result of detoxification; the same process can happen at the mammalian metabolism of carbazole due to the structural similarity of fungal and mammalian liver microsomes [136].

Other pathways for the biodegradation of carbazole may also exist (Figure 5). Research shows that *Ralstonia* sp. strain SBUG 290 can transform carbazole to 1-hydroxycarbazole, 3-hydroxycarbazole, 9-hydroxycarbazole and 3-hydroxy-1,2,3,9-tetrahydrocarbazol-4-one after the initial attack by a dioxygenase [149]. *Pseudomonas cepacia* strain F297 can also metabolize carbazole to produce 4-(3'-Methoxy-2'-indolyl)-2-oxo-3-butenoic acid after ring oxidation and the actions of a hydrolase [122]. Moreover, *Pseudomonas* sp. strain LD2 and *Flavobacterium* sp. strain OCM-1 were hypothesized to be able to oxidize carbazole to indole-3-acetic acid and other minor products due to ring-cleavage [124, 179].



Figure 5. Other proposed metabolic pathways for the degradation of Carbazole (A1). 1. Proposed pathway through *Ralstonia* sp. strain SBUG 290 [149]: A2. 1-hydroxycarbazole, A3. 3-hydroxycarbazole, A4. 3-hydroxy-1,2,3,9-tetrahydrocarbazol-4-one, A5. 9-hydroxycarbazole, A6. *cis*-carbazole-3,4-dihydrodiol. 2. Proposed pathway through *Pseudomonas cepacia* strain F297 [122]: B2. 4-(3'-Methoxy-2'-indolyl)-2-oxo-3-butenoic acid, B3. 4-(3'-Oxo-2'-indolinyl)-2-oxo-3-butenoic acid. 3. Proposed pathway through *Pseudomonas* sp. strain LD2 [124]: C2. indole-3-acetic acid. 4. Proposed pathway through *Aspergillus flavus* VKM F-1024 [136]: A2. 1-hydroxycarbazole, A3. 3-hydroxycarbazole, D2. 2-hydroxycarbazole. Compound within bracket was not detected.

Though there are many studies on carbazole biodegradation, less attention has been given

to understanding the metabolic pathways of carbazole biodegradation compared to PAHs.

Applying microorganisms to the real-world environment to produce practical effects will require

more in situ studies of the metabolic mechanisms.

2. Acridine

a. Introduction of Acridine

Although a number of studies have analyzed the environmental fate and metabolic pathways regarding carbazole degradation by soil bacteria [124, 180, 181], the environmental fate and biodegradation pathways of other toxic multi-ring azaarenes, such as acridine and phenanthridine, have received far less attention [182-184].

The toxic tricyclic nitrogen-containing compound acridine was first isolated by Carl Gräbe and Heinrich Caro from high boiling fraction of coal tar in 1870 [185]. It is an environmental contaminant widely distributed in coal tar, petroleum wastes, motor vehicle exhaust, tobacco smoke, and the photolysis of carbamazepine when exposed to UV radiation [186-188]. Acridine has been used widely in electronic and electroluminescence devices, and light-emitting diodes [189]. In contrast to carbazole, its structure has a pyridine-ring instead of a pyrrole-ring (Figure 3). Acridine has been reported as a toxic compound; inhibiting the growth of many aquatic organisms and causing oxidative stress for crustaceans [190-193]. It is also suggested to act as a mutagenic compound when activated in the presence of rat-liver extract and as a genotoxicant either animals or plants [188]. Because of its putative toxic, genotoxic and mutagenic characteristics, investigating the fate of acridine in soil is imperative [194, 195]. Although previous research has not shown adequate evidence to confirm acridine as a human carcinogen, compounds derived from it have been associated with carcinogenic characteristics [196]. Acridine itself was also reported to inhibit the DNA repair process and cell growth [190]. As a further step, understanding the biodegradation process of acridine can be essential to understand the environmental fate of acridine.

b. Acridine-Degrading Microorganisms

There is little prior research on the microbial degradation of acridine in soil. A few reports have indicated that bacterial, mammalian and fungal enzymes can transform acridine [188]. However, biodegradation of acridine by pure cultures of functional soil bacteria in a laboratory environment is rarely reported.

In one study investigating biodegradation of acridine under anaerobic conditions, a research group created lab-scale microcosms, including material from a mixed methanogenic culture from sewage sludge, a sulfate-reducing culture from alluvial sand aquifer contaminated by landfill leachate, and a methanogenic culture from alluvial sand aquifer [197]. At the first week, 1 mg·L⁻¹ of acridine was added for enrichment of acridine-degrading microbial communities. Two weeks later, 5 mg·L⁻¹ of acridine was added to each microcosm with only 0.06 mg·L⁻¹ of acridine detected one week later. Prior to this report, there was almost no information on the transformation of azaarenes containing three or more rings azaarenes.

Sphingomonas sp. strain LH128 was originally isolated from polluted diesel soil and degraded phenanthrene and co-metabolized anthracene [198]. Although *Sphingomonas* sp. strain LH128 was not capable of using acridine as the sole carbon source, acridine was found to be co-metabolized [199]. In that test, strain LH128 was tested for the transformation of acridine in liquid phosphate-buffered media using phenanthrene as primary carbon source. A yellow-green color was observed in the incubations containing acridine and indicated the production of one or more dead-end metabolites. One metabolite was later identified as 9(10H)-acridinone [198]. It was concluded that the ability of strain LH128 to transform acridine might have been inhibited by high concentrations of acridine (ranging from 24.9 mg·L⁻¹ to 58.2 mg·L⁻¹).

The first acridine-degrading bacterium obtained in pure culture from contaminated soil was strain B1H1 that possessed 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to sequences from the genus *Sphingomonas*, isolated from a former shipyard site [194]. Strain B1H1 was isolated after a thirteen-week enrichment and used 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine as a sole source of carbon and energy in liquid medium. It removed >80% of amended acridine in liquid medium after 18 days. In addition to strain B1H1, six more isolates from that study with the potential ability to transform acridine were reported with similarity to sequences from the genera *Rhodococcus*, *Pseudomonas*, *Bradyrhizobium*, *Rhodococcus*, and *Afipia* [194]. However, in contrast to strain B1H1, those six isolates could only transform acridine without growth.

Mycobacterium vanbaalenii strain PYR-1 was isolated from PAH-contaminated sediment of an oil tank farm and was reported as the first strain to be able to mineralize pyrene; it could additionally oxidize phenanthrene, fluoranthene, naphthalene, anthracene, and benz[a]anthracene [200]. Its capability to co-metabolize 47 mg·L⁻¹ acridine in liquid medium for 7 days using phenanthrene to induce enzymes was investigated. Although a variety of both dioxygenases and monoxygenases are present in *Mycobacterium vanbaalenii* strain PYR-1 and four different metabolites associated with transformation of acridine were detected (see below), strain PYR-1 was not able to mineralize acridine [188, 201].

A mutant strain of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain TTC1 was determined to transform acridine [202]. Strain TTC1 was derived from the naphthalene-degrading *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain N3, isolated from sewage sludge of a wastewater treatment plant [203, 204]. Tests using 4 g·L⁻¹ acridine were performed with resting cells of strain TTC1 induced by acetylsalycilic acid to increase dioxygenase activity. After 24 hours, 0.61 g·L⁻¹ acridine *cis*-1,2dihydrodiol was detected by HPLC analysis.
The ability of fungi to remove acridine in the soil is rarely reported even though many fungi can transform anthracene, the PAH analogue of acridine [70]. In one example, *Cunninghamella elegans* ATCC 36112 transformed 10 mg \cdot L⁻¹ acridine in liquid Sabouraud medium over three days incubation [117, 205]. Interestingly, only 4% of acridine remained indicating that acridine was either efficiently transformed or alternatively, quantities of the hydrophobic compound may have been absorbed into the fungal mycelia.

c. Metabolic Pathways of Acridine Degradation

Currently, only fragmentary information exists regarding any microbial metabolic pathway for acridine degradation (Figure 6). *Pseudomonas fluorescens* TTC1 was reported to produce acridine *cis*-1,2-dihydrodiol [202]. An initial naphthalene dioxygenase was determined to be responsible for this transformation. Interestingly, the tolerance of this naphthalene dioxygenase for high concentrations of acridine (4 g·L⁻¹) indicate that it may be worth further investigation for *in situ* bioremediation purposes or during biotransformation of other azaarenes. Another metabolite of acridine transformation was produced by *Sphingomonas* sp. LH128 and identified as 9(10H)-acridinone [198]. It was also found as a major metabolite of acridine by zebra mussels, green algae, and bacteria in aquatic environments [206]. In comparison to acridine, 9(10H)-acridinone was reported as less acutely genotoxic for an aquatic invertebrate midge, however, it is still considered genotoxic according to the MutatoxTM test [206].

Mycobacterium vanbaalenii strain PYR-1 co-metabolized acridine to four different compounds in the presence of phenanthrene: acridine *cis*-1,2-dihydrodiol, 4-hydroxyacridine, 9(10H)-acridinone, and 9,10-dihydroacridine, with 9,10-dihydroacridine as the most abundant metabolite (Figure 6) [188]. The initial step of phenanthrene degradation in strain PYR-1 occurs through a ring-hydroxylating dioxygenase (RHD) resulting in *cis*-dihydrodiol [207]. The activity

of a similar RHD was likely responsible for the presence of acridine *cis*-1,2-dihydrodiol by strain PYR-1. 4-Hydroxyacridine, however, was likely formed due to the activity of cytochrome P450 monooxygenase through a different pathway [208]. 9(10H)-Acridinone and 9,10-dihydroacridine may have been produced through either biological or abiotic processes [209, 210]. While 9(10H)-acridinone is considered a less toxic compound than acridine, the toxicity of the other three compounds still need to be investigated.

The transformation of acridine by the fungus *Cunninghamella elegans* ATCC 36112 produced acridine trans-1,2-dihydrodiol and 2-hydroxyacridine (Figure 6) [205]. These two metabolites of acridine were different than acridine metabolites produced by bacteria.



Figure 6. Proposed metabolic pathways for the degradation of acridine (A1). 1. Proposed pathway through *Pseudomonas fluorescens* TTC1 [202]: A2. acridine *cis*-1,2-dihydrodiol. 2. Proposed pathway through *Sphingomonas* sp. LH128 [211]: B2. 9(10H)-acridone. 3. Proposed pathway through *Mycobacterium vanbaalenii* PYR-1 [188]: A2. acridine *cis*-1,2-dihydrodiol, B2. 9(10H)-acridone, C2. acridine 3,4-oxide, C3. 4-hydroxyacridine, C4. 9,10-dihydroacridine. 4. Proposed pathway through *Cunninghamella elegans* ATCC 36112 [205]: D2. acridine trans-1,2-dihydrodiol, D3. 2-hydroxyacridine. 5. Proposed pathway under the anaerobic condition [197]: E2. 9-hydroxyacridine, E3. 3-hydroxyacridine or 4-hydroxyacridine, E4. N-methylanthranilic acid, E5. 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid, E6. benzoic acid. Compounds within bracket was not detected.

Researchers assumed that the first oxidation step of acridine involved a cytochrome P-450 monooxygenase to produce acridine 1,2-oxide [205, 212]. The trans-1,2-dihydrodiol could be formed after the oxide was metabolized by epoxide hydrolase [213]. This pathway is similar to one previously reported for the transformation of anthracene to anthracene trans-1,2dihydrodiol in *Cunninghamella elegans* [214]. The presence of 2-hydroxyacridine might be explained by a nonenzymatic rearrangement of acridine 1,2-oxide [215].

Under anaerobic conditions, a few metabolites of acridine were identified through a microcosms-based study and the possible pathways of acridine were presented (Figure 6) [197]. The metabolic route may begin with oxidation of either a benzene or pyridine ring to produce either 3-hydroxyacridine, 4-hydroxyacridine or 9-hydroxyacridine. All of these products can be converted to benzoic acid, a key intermediate for oxidized aromatic compounds [197, 216].

3. Phenanthridine

a. Introduction of Phenanthridine

Phenanthridine was first discovered in 1889 by Amé Pictet and H. J. Ankersmit through pyrolysis of the condensation product of benzaldehyde and aniline [217]. Similar to carbazole and acridine, phenanthridine is an azaarene widely distributed at contaminated sites due to its high water solubility and lower K_{ow} values [95, 184]. Phenanthridine can be used in the production of industrial solvents, dyes, explosives, and pharmaceuticals [216]. Although there is insufficient evidence to confirm the carcinogenic property of phenanthridine in humans, it was reported as acutely toxin to green algae, invertebrates, and fish [192, 206, 218-220]. Phenanthridine was also found mutagenic for the bacterium *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium strain TA100 [221]. However, few investigations have studied phenanthridine biodegradation in contaminated soil.

b. Phenanthridine-Degrading Microorganisms

Streptomyces viridosporus strain T7A was reported to be able to co-metabolize five heterocyclic nitrogen-containing compounds, including phenanthridine, isoquinoline, phthalazine, quinazoline, and quinoxaline, when growing in tryptone/yeast extract broth [182]. Strain TA7 was isolated for its ability to degrade substituted benzoic acids and it was the first isolate from soil reported to demonstrate microbial oxidation of phenanthridine [222]. In one test, 25% of phenanthridine was transformed by strain TA7 to 6(5H)-phenanthridinone during a 3-day transformation test (initial concentration 412 mg·L⁻¹).

The phenanthrene-degrading bacterium *Mycobacterium gilvum* strain LB307T was also found to be able to transform phenanthridine [183]. While neither 2.5 mg·L⁻¹ or 20 mg·L⁻¹ phenanthridine supported the growth of strain LB307T, samples amended with 2.5 mg·L⁻¹ phenanthridine demonstrated complete removal of phenanthridine over an 8-hour incubation. However, no degradation of phenanthridine was detected in samples containing 20 mg·L⁻¹ phenanthridine, even after 215 hours of incubation, and no metabolites related to the transformation of phenanthridine were detected from incubations. This indicated a possible inhibitory effect of phenanthridine on this strain at high concentrations.

The phenanthrene-degrading *Sphingomonas* sp. strain LH128 was also tested for phenanthridine degradation and co-metabolized phenanthridine using phenanthrene as primary carbon source [211]. Similar to acridine transformations by strain LH128, a yellow-green color was observed in incubations containing phenanthridine when added at concentrations ranging from 0.54 mg·L⁻¹ to 36.9 mg·L⁻¹, indicating the presence of metabolites. One such metabolite was identified as 6(5H)-phenanthridinone. In contrast to the inhibitory effect caused by acridine

at concentrations >24.9 mg·L⁻¹ for strain LH128, no inhibitory effect was observed even at the highest phenanthridine concentration (36.9 mg·L⁻¹).

To the best of our knowledge, strain B1L4, which was isolated from a former shipyard site and possessed 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Rhodococcus* sp., was the first reported isolate capable of using phenanthridine as a sole source of carbon and energy [194]. A liquid culture amended with 5 mg·L⁻¹ phenanthridine demonstrated significant increase in turbidity relative to uninoculated controls. However, less than 20% phenanthridine was transformed by a strain, AB010907, over an 18-day incubation. Other genetically diverse phenanthridine-transforming isolates from that same study possessed 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to sequences from the genera *Methylopila, Ralstonia, Xanthobacter, Afipia, Achromobacter, Sphingomonas*, and *Pseudomonas*. Isolates with low similarity to known genera were also recovered. These 13 isolates were able to transform either 5 mg·L⁻¹ or 20 mg·L⁻¹ of phenanthridine in liquid medium but could not utilize phenanthridine as a source of carbon. Additionally, none of these isolates showed the ability to mineralize ¹⁴C-labeled phenanthrene, which has structural similarities to phenanthridine, indicating that the mechanism involved in the initial attack of phenanthridine may be different than the mechanism for phenanthrene.

Fungi have also been reported to be able to metabolize phenanthridine. The fungus *Umbelopsis ramanniana* was reported to transform >70% of phenanthridine in liquid medium $(41 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1})$ over 18 days [223].

c. Metabolic Pathways of Phenanthridine Degradation

Similar to acridine, the metabolic pathways of phenanthridine degradation by microorganisms are rarely reported (Figure 7). It is possible that metabolites could be transformed by microorganisms into other transient metabolites which might be further

transformed by other bacteria [183]. The bacterium *Streptomyces viridosporus* strain T7A is capable of transforming phenanthridine to 6(5H)-phenanthridinone, which was the only metabolite detected [182]. 6(5H)-phenanthridinone was also detected after the transformation of phenanthridine by *Sphingomonas* sp. strain LH128 [211] and the larvae of the aquatic invertebrate *Chironomus riparius* [224].

The fungus *Umbelopsis ramanniana* can transform phenanthridine to phenanthridine Noxide and 6(5H)-phenanthridinone (Figure 7) [223]. Phenanthridine N-oxide was also reported as one of the products of phenanthridine transformation by rat-liver homogenate [225]. Other major metabolites related to the transformation of phenanthridine by polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB)induced rat-liver homogenate include 6(5H)-phenanthridinone, 9,10-dihydroxy-9,10dihydrophenanthridine, 1,2-dihydroxy-1,2-dihydrophenanthridine, and 2-hydroxyphenanthridine. Phenanthridine N-oxide can also be produced by CYP450 via oxidization of phenanthridine, and this compound was reported as non-mutagenic for *Salmonella enterica* [220, 226]. However, 6(5H)-phenanthridinone was mutagenic but not tumorigenic for mice [227, 228]. The metabolites of phenanthridine metabolism therefore cannot be completely considered detoxified even if the toxic parent compound phenanthridine is transformed.



Figure 7. Proposed metabolic pathways for the degradation of phenanthridine (A1). 1. Proposed pathway through *Streptomyces viridosporus* strain T7A [182]: A2. 6(5H)-phenanthridinone. 2. Proposed pathway through *Umbelopsis ramanniana* [223]: B2. phenanthridine N-oxide. 3. Proposed pathway through rat-liver homogenate [225]: A2. 6(5H)-phenanthridinone, B2. phenanthridine N-oxide, C2. 1,2-dihydroxy-1,2-dihydrophenanthridine, C3. 2-hydroxyphenanthridine, C4. 9,10-dihydroxy-9,10-dihydrophenanthridine. 4. Proposed pathway through *Escherichia coli* and *Streptomyces lividans* transformants [229]: C2. 1,2-dihydroxy-1,2-dihydroxy-1,2-dihydrophenanthridine, D2. 10-hydroxyphenanthridine.

9,10-dihydroxy-9,10-dihydrophenanthridine, 1,2-dihydroxy-1,2-dihydrophenanthridine,

along with a novel product 10-hydroxyphenanthridine were also reported as the metabolites of

phenanthridine in a transformation experiment of Escherichia coli cells recombined with genes

of phenanthrene dioxygenase originally obtained from the marine bacterium Nocardioides sp.

strain KP7 and Streptomyces lividans transformants carrying phenanthrene dioxygenase genes

[229].

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

A. Chemicals

Carbazole (GC grade, \geq 95% purity), acridine (97%), and phenanthridine (98%) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Anthracene (scintillation grade) was purchased from Eastman Kodak (Rochester, NY, USA). Phenanthrene (97%) was obtained from Acros Organics (Thermo Fisher Scientific, New Jersey, USA). Other chemicals used for this research project were the highest available purity.

B. Soil Preparation

Contaminated soil was obtained from the site of a former manufactured gas plant (MGP) situated in Salisbury, North Carolina, USA. Soil properties were tested as previously described [230]. Soil samples were processed by air drying, sieving through 10 mm wire-mesh, mixing, and re-screening through 10 mm wire-mesh. After resuspension in a buffer containing phosphorus (Na-K phosphate buffer, 5 mM; pH 7.5) and nitrogen (NH4NO₃, 2.5 mM; "reactor buffer") and screening through a 3.35 mm wire-mesh screen to remove rocks and other objects, the processed soil was transferred to a 2.5 L lab-scale, aerobic, and semi-continuously operated slurry-phase (15% soil solids, w/v) bioreactor. Every 7 days 20% of the slurry volume inside the reactor was removed and replaced with slurry newly created from untreated ("feed") soil in reactor buffer [231]. Unused feed soil was stored in a sealed container at 4°C. Bioreactor-treated slurry samples for this experiment were taken directly from the bioreactor as needed at the time of the experiment.

C. Quantification of Azaarenes

A high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system method was developed to quantify the disappearance of azaarenes and select PAHs. The HPLC system included a Waters (Milford, MA, USA) 600E system controller, a Waters 717 Plus autosampler, an Alltech (Deerfield, Illinois, USA) 330 column heater, a Perkin Elmer (Beaconsfield, UK, USA) LS40 fluorescence detector, and a Kratos (Chestnut Ridge, NY, USA) Spectroflow 757 UV absorbance detector.

For the quantification of the PAHs phenanthrene and anthracene, analyte standards for calibration curves were acquired from dilutions of an EPA 610 polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons mixture stock (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). Samples were injected through a 3 µm particle-size C18 SupelcosilTM LC-PAH column (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). The analysis method had a run time of 26 minutes which included a 6 minute delay between samples to avoid retention time differences [232]. The initial conditions of the mobile phase 60% acetonitrile and 40% water with the flowrate of 1 mL·min⁻¹. The proportion of acetonitrile was linearly increased from 60% to 100% within first 10 minutes, and the flowrate increased from 1 mL·min⁻¹ to 2 mL·min⁻¹ at 12.5 min. Fluorescence detection was used for the quantification of PAHs.

Analyte standards of azaarenes (carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine) in methanol ranging in concentration from 10 mg·L⁻¹ to 0.625 mg·L⁻¹ were prepared. UV detection was used for the quantification of azaarenes. Samples were injected through a 3 μ m particle-size Luna TM phenyl-hexyl column (Phenomenex, CA, USA). The analysis method for azaarenes had a total running time of 27 minutes including a 7-minute delay between samples to avoid retention time differences. The initial condition of the mobile phase was 70% acidic reagent water (acidified to pH 3 with formic acid) and 30% methanol with a constant flowrate of 0.21 mL·min⁻¹. The proportion of methanol was increased linearly from 30% to 70% over the first 14 minutes of each sample run, then increased to 95% at 16 minutes and kept constant for 6 minutes. The mobile phase was returned to initial conditions at 22 minutes. UV detection at 255 nm was used for the quantification of azaarenes.

D. Isolation of Putative Azaarene-Degrading Bacteria

To isolate putative azaarene-degrading bacteria, enrichments with both feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil were created. Carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine stock solutions (50 mg·mL⁻¹) were created by dissolving chemicals individually in acetone. 1 mL of each azaarene stock solution was then added individually to sterile, 1 L glass, screw-top, media storage bottles (final concentration of 200 mg·L⁻¹) and caps left loose overnight to allow the organic solvent to evaporate. Incubations containing 250 mL of sterilized bioreactor buffer, and either 5 g of feed soil or 5 g bioreactor-treated soil (dry weight) were added to the 1 L glass screw-top media storage bottles. Enrichment cultures were incubated for 16 days at room temperature ($20 - 23^{\circ}$ C) with shaking at 180 rpm.

To isolate putative azaarene-degrading bacteria from the soil enrichments, carbazole, acridine, or phenanthridine were individually mixed into sRB media containing 1.5% agar (Acros Organics, NJ, USA). sRB Medium was composed of (per L): 984 mL of bioreactor buffer (5 mM Na-K phosphate buffer, 5 mM NH₄NO₃; pH 7.0), 0.1mL of 1 M MgSO₄·7 H₂O, 0.1mL of 1 M CaCl₂·2 H₂O, 1 mL of trace element solution (12.5 mL 25% HCl, 30 mg H₃BO₃, 2.1 g FeSO₄·7 H₂O, 100 mg MnCl₂·4 H₂O, 190 mg CoCl₂·6 H₂O, 24 mg NiCl₂·6H₂O, 2 mg CuCl₂·2 H₂O, 144 mg ZnSO₄·7 H₂O, 36 mg Na₂MoO₄·2 H₂O per liter), and 1 mL of Se-W solution (0.4 g NaOH, 6 mg Na₂SeO₃·5 H₂O, 8 mg Na₂WO₄·2 H₂O per liter), sterilized by autoclaving for 15 minutes, 250°C. After cooling, 0.2 µm membrane-filtered 1 mL·L⁻¹ vitamin solution (containing 4 mg p-aminobenzoic acid, 1 mg biotin, 10 mg nicotinic acid, 5 mg Ca-pantothenate, 15 mg pyridoxine-HCl, in 100 mL 10 mM phosphate buffer at pH 7.1), 1 mL·L⁻¹ thiamine solution (10 mg thiamine dissolved in 100 mL 25 mM sodium phosphate buffer at pH 3.4), 1.5 mL·L⁻¹ thiosulfate solution (24.8 g Na₂S₂O₃·5 H₂O dissolved in 100 mL deionized water, sparged with 100% N₂ gas) and 1 mL·L⁻¹ vitamin B12 solution (5 mg cyanocobalamin dissolved in 100 mL deionized water) were added. Carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine (final concentration of 50 mg·L⁻¹) were added individually to sRB-agar in solvent prior to pouring plates to create enriched sRB-agar.

After 7 and 14 days of incubations, 1 mL samples were removed from each azaarene enrichment. Serial dilutions (10^{-1} to 10^{-6} ; in 0.85% NaCl) from each enrichment were created and 100 µL of liquid from the 10^{-3} to 10^{-6} dilutions were spread onto the surface of sRB-agar plates containing azaarenes (final dilutions 10^{-4} to 10^{-7}). Plates were incubated at room temperature (~20 – 23°C) for 14 to 42 days. Isolated colonies were transferred to R2A (MD Difco, MD, USA) plates.

To test whether isolates could use carbazole, acridine, or phenanthridine as a sole carbon source, select pure cultures grown on R2A were transferred to liquid sRB medium containing individual azaarenes. Azaarenes dissolved in acetone (final concentration 7.5 mg/L) were first added to duplicate, sterilized glass, screw-top test tubes with the caps loosened to allow the organic solvent to evaporate. 5 mL of sterilized liquid sRB medium was then added to each tube and an ultrasonic water bath was used to mix azaarenes and the sRB medium. Inoculated tubes were incubated at 30°C and 225 rpm. The turbidity and any color change of the liquid medium compared to negative controls were recorded by visual observation.

To obtain cells for PCR analyses and strain storage, a 1 mL sample was taken from each tube with observed turbidity or color change, centrifuged at 15,000 rpm for 5 minutes, and resuspended in 1 mL sRB medium. This wash process was repeated a total of 3 times. A 100 μ L aliquot of suspended cell solution was transferred to a 15 mL Falcon centrifuge tube (Corning Life Science, NY, USA) containing 5 mL R2A broth (Himedia Laboratories, India) and incubated at 30°C and 225 rpm for up to several days. After growth, strains were stored in R2A broth and glycerol (final concentration 15% v/v) at -80 °C.

Isolation of bacteria responsible for co-metabolizing phenanthridine. An additional enrichment incubation was set up to isolate bacteria responsible for co-metabolizing phenanthridine and acridine. Phenanthrene, acridine, and phenanthridine stock solutions (7.5 mg·mL⁻¹ each) were prepared by dissolving chemicals in methanol. 200 μ L of each chemical (final concentration 50 mg·mL⁻¹) was added individually to sterile, 125 mL glass screw-top flasks and the caps were left loosened overnight to allow the organic solvent to evaporate. 30 mL of sterilized bioreactor buffer, and 0.5 g bioreactor-treated soil (dry weight) were then added to the flask. The enrichment was incubated for 14 days at room temperature (20 – 23°C) with shaking at 180 rpm.

After 14 days incubation, 1 mL of an enrichment sample was removed from the flask and processed with the same isolation method described above. A 100 μ L of aliquot 10⁻³ to 10⁻⁶ dilutions were spread onto sRB-agar plates supplemented with phenanthrene (final dilutions 10⁻⁴ to 10⁻⁷). Plates were incubated at room temperature (~20 – 23°C) for 21 days. One isolate that created dark zones around colonies on the plate was transferred to R2A plates. This isolate was then transferred to duplicate tubes containing liquid sRB medium amended with phenanthrene and phenanthridine (50 mg·L⁻¹ each). Inoculated tubes were incubated at 30°C and 225 rpm. The

turbidity of the liquid medium compared to negative controls was recorded by visual observation.

PCR of 16S rRNA Genes. PCR was performed to obtain the partial 16S rRNA gene sequence of select putative azaarene-degrading isolates. Each reaction contained 1 μ L fresh cell culture grown in R2A broth, 1.25 μ L 10 μ M forward primer 27F (5' \rightarrow 3':

AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG), 1.25 μ L 10 μ M reverse primer 1492R (5' \rightarrow 3':

TACGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT), 8 µL 5 prime MasterMix (5 Prime GmbH, Germany), and 8.5 µL dH₂O for a 20 µL final volume. The PCR program was 95°C for 10 min, 29 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1.2 minutes, and a final dwell of 72°C for 10 minutes on an Eppendorf Mastercycler Gradient thermal cycler (Westbury, NY, USA).

PCR amplicons were analyzed by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis in 1X Tris-acetate-EDTA buffer (TAE). Each gel contained 7 μL Invitrogen SYBR Safe DNA Gel Stain (Thermo Fisher Scientific, NY, USA) added prior to casting. PCR products for sequencing were submitted to Eton Bioscience Inc. (Research Triangle Park, NC, USA) using 10 μM of forward primer 27F. The sequence was analyzed using BioEdit Sequence Alignment Editor 7.2.5 (Ibis Biosciences, CA, USA) and Sequencher 5.4.1 (Gene Codes, MI, USA). The closest 16S rRNA genes were determined using Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) of the GenBank database [233] and the Sequence Match tool of the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) [234].

E. Growth Tests

A novel designed test was performed to determine the ability of strains to grow on carbazole, acridine, or phenanthridine, as well as a variety of other PAHs and chemical compounds present in contaminated soil as sole carbon sources. A total of 26 different solventdissolved carbon sources were added in triplicate to 96-well microplate wells and the solvent

allowed to evaporate overnight (final chemical concentration of 320 mg/L; Figure 8). As this method relied on increases in protein mass to determine cellular growth, steps were first taken to determine the optimal concentration of inoculum. Fresh cell cultures grown in R2A broth were washed 3 times with sRB liquid medium. In a separate 96-well plate, 125 μ L sRB liquid medium and varying volumes of cell suspension (20 μ L, 10 μ L, 5 μ L, 2.5 μ L, 1.25 μ L, and 0 μ L) washed in sRB liquid medium were added to wells in triplicate. 125 μ L of Pierce BCA Protein Assay (50 parts of reagent A to 1 part of reagent B; Thermo Fisher Scientific, NY, USA) were added to each well and microplates were incubated for 45 minutes at 60°C. The optimum inoculum concentration was determined to be the wells with the lowest volume that also displayed a color change. This volume of cells was used to inoculate the 96-well plate containing carbon sources. A control plate containing carbon sources inoculated with 125 μ L sRB liquid medium without cells was incubated identically. The microplates were placed in a temperature-controlled incubator for 30 days at 30°C.

To measure biomass in wells, protein concentration tests were performed by the Pierce BCA Protein Assay. After 30 days, a Sorvall Legend RT centrifuge (Thermo Fisher Scientific, NY, USA) with a Sorvall Heraeus 75006449 S rotor was used to condense liquid in the wells by spinning at 800 rpm for 30 seconds before the liquid was transferred to a new 96-well plate (solvent damaged the incubation plate, potentially affecting microplate readings). A bovine serum albumin (BSA) dilution series was created ranging from 25 to 2,000 μ g/mL to obtain a protein concentration standard curve. Protein concentrations in each well were determined using a Tecan Austria GmbH 5082 (Grödig, Austria) microplate reader at 620 nm. Absorbance data were converted to protein concentrations using the BSA standard curve.

Eluorene	Benzo(k)fluoranthene	Benzo(a)anthrenequinone	⊂sRB⊖	
Phenanthrene	Benzo(a)pyrene	Carbazole	sRB + Pyruvate	
Anthracene	Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	Phenanthridine	R2AO	
Fluoranthene	Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	Acridine	000	
Pyrene	9-Fluorenone	Salycilate	000	
Benzo(a)anthracene	9,10-Phenanthrenequinone	Phthalate	000	
Chrysene	9-Anthrone	Hexadecane	000	
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	9,10-Anthrenequinone	sRB w/o cells	000	

Figure 8. List of carbon sources and distribution in 96-well plates.

F. Tests of Azaarene Concentration on Soil Microbial Activity

The potential inhibitory effect of high concentrations of either carbazole, acridine, or phenanthridine on microbial activity in feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil was investigated. Four different concentrations were tested for each azaarene: 50 mg·L⁻¹, 25 mg·L⁻¹, 10 mg·L⁻¹, and 5 mg L^{-1} . Azaarene stock solutions (with acetone as solvent) were added to glass, sterile, screw-cap test tubes in triplicate and left open overnight in a chemical fume hood to evaporate solvent. After adding 5 mL sRB liquid medium into tubes, vortexing and an ultrasonic bath were used to mix azaarenes into the sRB liquid medium. A 0.5 grams (dry weight) aliquot of either feed soil or bioreactor-treated soil was then added to each tube. Controls included tubes with only sRB liquid medium, feed soil or bioreactor-treated soil without spiked azaarene, tubes with 0.2% sodium pyruvate solution instead of an azaarene, and tubes containing azaarenes without soil. All tubes were placed in a temperature-controlled shaking incubator at 30°C and 225 rpm. Initially, turbidity measured by spectrophotometric measurements was used to track microbial growth over the course of two weeks. However, this method was ineffective due to soil constituents as well as undissolved azaarene crystals in the tubes. To overcome these effects, a new inoculum was created by mixing 1 mL of incubation samples from each of the four concentrations (50 mg·L⁻¹, 25 mg·L⁻¹, 10 mg·L⁻¹, 5 mg·L⁻¹) into a sterile Falcon centrifuge tube

(Corning Life Science, NY, USA) to obtain 4 mL mixed inoculum. After vortexing, a 100 μ L aliquot was used as inoculum into new tubes with the same carbon source and 4.9 mL of freshly prepared sRB liquid medium. For this experiment, azaarene concentrations of only 50 mg·L⁻¹ and 10 mg·L⁻¹ were tested but controls were otherwise identical to the prior setup. Each concentration was prepared in triplicate. All tubes were placed in temperature-controlled shaking incubator at 30°C and 225 rpm. Spectrophotometric measurements of turbidity at OD₆₀₀ were measured over two weeks.

G. Chemical Analysis of PAH and Azaarene Disappearance in Soils

Anthracene, phenanthrene, and carbazole were tested as possible primary carbon sources for removal of acridine and phenanthridine through co-metabolism. Azaarene and PAH stock solutions were created consisting of 20 mg dissolved in 4 mL acetone (final concentration of 5 $g \cdot L^{-1}$). A 10% slurry of the feed soil was created in reactor buffer and screened through a 3.35 mm wire-mesh screen. For bioreactor-treated soil, slurry was centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 20 minutes to pellet soil, the supernatant discarded, and the pellet was re-suspended in an equal volume of fresh reactor buffer. The centrifugation and resuspension process was repeated 3 times to wash the soil completely. A 0.05 mL aliquot of the chemical stock solution was added to triplicate, sterile, screw-top 40-mL amber EPA vials using a Hamilton glass HPLC syringe to obtain final concentration of 50 mg \cdot L⁻¹. The solvent was allowed evaporate under a stream of nitrogen gas. 3.7 mL of bioreactor buffer was then added and the vials placed in an ultrasonic water bath to break up chemical crystals. 1.3 mL of soil slurry was added to the reactor buffer to reach 5 mL total volume. Acidified controls were prepared by adjusting the medium to pH 2 by adding 85% phosphoric acid. All vials were placed on a shaker at room temperature (~20–23°C) with shaking at 180 rpm for 21 days.

After incubation, the pH of each vial was determined and adjusted to pH \geq 7 if needed. Vials for time 0 incubations were extracted immediately after adjusting pH. Azaarenes and PAHs were extracted by adding 10 mL of ethyl acetate (15 mL ethyl acetate to acidic controls) directly and shaking vials on a wrist-action shaker for 12 hours at 160 rpm. The top organic layer of each vial was filtered through a 0.22 µm pore-size nylon filter (Millipore, MA, USA) and 1 mL filtered sample stored in 2 mL amber chromatography vials at -20°C until further analysis. Extraction samples were diluted with methanol to reach proper concentration prior to HPLC analyses as described earlier.

H. Molecular Analysis

The microbial communities of feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil communities in response to exposure to tested azaarenes, PAHs, and combinations of the chemicals were analyzed. Incubations in sterile, screw-top, 40-mL amber EPA vials included 5 mL of soil slurry (0.2 g soil dry weight in bioreactor buffer) with tested chemicals at a final concentration of 50 mg/L (added in methanol and disrupted through ultrasonication). Aliquots of 1 mL were removed at each time point (days 0, 7, 14, and 21), placed into sterile tubes, and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 15000 × g. The supernatant was discarded and the soil pellets stored at -20°C. DNA was recovered from select samples using the FastDNA Spin Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, OH, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

primer (341F-GC), 1.25 µL of 10 µM reverse primer (517 R), 10 µL 5 prime MasterMix (5 Prime GmbH, Germany), and 6.5 µL dH₂O for a total volume of 20 µL. The PCR program consisted of 94°C for 5 min, 10 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds, 58°C for 30 seconds (with a 0.5°C decrease each cycle), and 72°C for 1 minute. 25 additional cycles were 94°C for 30 seconds, 53°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 1 minute using an Eppendorf Mastercycler Gradient thermal cycler. PCR amplicons were analyzed by gel electrophoresis using a 2% agarose gel. DGGE was performed with a DCodeTM Universal Mutation Detection system (Bio-Rad, CA, USA). A 10% polyacrylamide gel was made with a denaturant range from 40–60%. The gels were run in 1X TAE buffer at 60 V for 16 hours prior to staining with ethidium bromide.

Clone libraries for select samples were created using a TOPO TA Cloning® for Sequencing (Invitrogen, CA, USA). Plasmids of clones were purified using a QIAprep® Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, CA, USA). Purified clonal products were analyzed by DGGE alongside fresh PCR products from extracted DNA samples. Clone products matching bands of interest were submitted to Eton Bioscience Inc. (Research Triangle Park, NC, USA) for sequencing. The sequence results were analyzed by BioEdit Sequence Alignment Editor 7.2.5 and Sequencher 5.4.1. The closest 16S rRNA gene was determined using BLAST searches of the GenBank database and the sequence match tool of the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) [234].

I. Pure Culture Tests for Co-metabolism of Azaarene

Isolates capable of growth on PAHs were tested for their ability to co-metabolize acridine and phenanthridine. Incubations were set up for 3 strains: *Acidovorax* sp. NA3 [235], *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T [236], and *Sphingobium* sp. PAP1. *Acidovorax* sp. NA3 was grown to turbidity in 5 mL sRB liquid medium with 200 mg·L⁻¹ phenanthrene. Cells were washed 3 times through centrifugation and resuspension in sRB liquid medium. Sterile 40-ml amber-glass EPA vials with additional chemicals (individual azaarene or mixture of selected PAHs and azaarenes added in methanol prior to disruption through ultrasonication) and 5 mL sRB liquid medium were prepared in triplicate to obtain a final concentration of 50 mg·L⁻¹. Acidified killed controls were created by adding 85% phosphoric acid to adjust the pH \leq 2. 100 µL washed cells were added into both experimental and acidified vials and incubated for 7 days at room temperature (~20 – 23°C) with shaking at 180 rpm. *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T was grown to turbidity in sRB2 liquid medium (bioreactor buffer, 1 mM MgSO4·7 H₂O, 1 mM CaCl₂·2 H₂O, 1 mL·L⁻¹ trace element solution, 1 mL·L⁻¹ vitamin B12 solution) with 0.2% sodium pyruvate [236]. The incubation for *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T was set up similarly to *Acidovorax* sp. NA3, while the incubation time for *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T was 21 days given the slower growth of TR3.2^T. The test of co-metabolism of *Sphingobium* sp. PAP1 was tested in 125 mL sterile screw-top flasks incubated at room temperature with shaking at 180 rpm for a 4-day incubation.

After incubation, the pH of each vial was adjusted to $pH \ge 7$ if required by adding NaOH. Chemicals were extracted, filtered, and stored using the same protocols as was described previously (Chemical Analysis). Sample concentrations were adjusted with methanol for HPLC analysis as described for the protocol described earlier.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

A. HPLC Chromatogram for Identification of Three Azaarenes

The HPLC chromatograms obtained from standard stocks of the mixture of three azaarenes dissolved in methanol (Figure 9). By comparing to peaks presented from standards containing single azaarene compounds, the three peaks identified based on lowest to highest retention time were acridine, phenanthridine, and carbazole, respectively. Standard curves representing values of 10 mg·L⁻¹, 5 mg·L⁻¹, 2.5 mg·L⁻¹, 1.25 mg·L⁻¹ and were regularly performed (Figure 10). The lowest concentration tested was 0.625 mg·L⁻¹ and the analytes were reliably detected at that concentration.



Figure 9. HPLC chromatograms for stock mixtures of three azaarenes: carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine. Concentrations: a. $10 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; b. $5 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; c. $2.5 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; d. $1.25 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$.



Figure 10. Typical standard curve of three azaarenes from HPLC analysis. Concentrations, including 10 mg·L⁻¹, 5 mg·L⁻¹, 2.5 mg·L⁻¹, 1.25 mg·L⁻¹ were performed for three azaarenes: A. carbazole (CAR), B. acridine (ACR) and C. phenanthridine (PHI).

B. Effects of Azaarene Concentration on Soil Microbial Activity

The ability of each of the three azaarenes to serve as a growth substrate for microbes in either feed soil (FS) or bioreactor-treated soil (BTS) was tested. Two concentrations of azaarenes, 50 mg·L⁻¹ and 10 mg·L⁻¹, were added to soil slurries and the turbidity of soil-free supernatant (absorbance measured at OD_{600}) was measured as a surrogate for microbial growth was measured (Figure 11). For both feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil samples, the turbidity of carbazole incubations indicated bacterial growth. For feed soil incubations amended with carbazole, after 48 hours the turbidity of both the 50 mg·L⁻¹ and 10 mg·L⁻¹ concentrations showed increases with the 50 mg·L⁻¹ concentration showing a greater increase. The maximum turbidity for feed soil incubations containing carbazole was 0.075, compared to the positive control (incubation with pyruvate) of 0.88. For bioreactor-treated soil incubations amended with carbazole, incubations containing 50 mg·L⁻¹ carbazole had significant turbidity (P < 0.05) after 72 hours. No significant turbidity was observed in the corresponding 10 mg·L⁻¹ carbazole incubations. The maximum turbidity of bioreactor-treated soil carbazole incubations was 0.15, while the maximum turbidity for the positive control was 0.92. Comparing the 50 mg·L⁻¹ carbazole incubations, but greater in the bioreactor-treated soil. As expected, incubations containing 50 mg·L⁻¹ carbazole showed more microbial growth than 10 mg·L⁻¹ carbazole incubations, suggesting that inhibition at higher concentrations was not a major factor for this compound. However, no significant increases in turbidity was observed for either concentration of acridine and phenanthridine in either of the two soil incubations.





Figure 11. Effects of two concentrations of either carbazole (CAR), acridine (ACR), or phenanthridine (PHI) on the growth of microbes in feed soil (FS) or bioreactor-treated soil (BTS). Results were measured by turbidity at OD_{600} and means in triplicate samples are shown above. Profiles of A, B, and C represent bioreactor-treated soil incubation, whiles profiles D, E and F represent feed soil incubation.

C. Co-Incubation of Azaarenes with Each Other and With PAHs

The removal of azaarenes in both feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil was examined individually and in combination with each other, as well as with two three-ring PAHs, phenanthrene and anthracene. When incubated individually at a concentration of 50 mg \cdot L⁻¹, the bioreactor-treated soil removed over 21 days an average of $93\% \pm 2\%$, $64\% \pm 2\%$, and $85\% \pm$ 7% of carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine, respectively (Figure 12, A-C). Co-incubation of phenanthrene with phenanthridine resulted in 97% \pm 0.5% removal of phenanthrene and 99% \pm 0.4% removal of phenanthridine (Figure 12, D). Co-incubation of all three azaarenes together resulted in similar levels of removal for carbazole (94% \pm 0.7%), acridine (54% \pm 3%), and phenanthridine (95% \pm 0.7%) as was observed in individual incubations (Figure 12, E). Coincubation of acridine and phenanthridine with either of the PAHs resulted in similar percentage removal of acridine and phenanthridine. Specifically, $51\% \pm 5\%$ and $65\% \pm 6\%$ of the acridine was removed from anthracene and phenanthrene co-incubations, respectively (Figure 12, F, G). Similarly, $94\% \pm 1\%$ and $98\% \pm 1\%$ of phenanthridine was removed in anthracene or phenanthrene co-incubations, respectively (Figure 12, G). The addition of carbon sources (carbazole, anthracene, or phenanthrene) therefore did not significantly affect the removal of acridine and phenanthridine from bioreactor-treated soils under the conditions tested (p < 0.05; Figure 12, H, I).

However, the effects of co-incubation of azaarenes and select PAHs on removal of azaarenes in feed soil presented a different pattern. When tested individually in incubations of feed soil over 21 days, carbazole was significantly removed (76% \pm 5%; P<0.05), whereas acridine was not removed, and phenanthridine was removed by only 17% \pm 4% (P>0.05) (Figure 13, A-C). Similar to the incubations of individual compounds, co-incubation of all three

azaarenes together resulted in significant removal of carbazole ($89\% \pm 4\%$), no significant removal of acridine, and non-statistically significant but detectable removal of phenanthridine ($9\% \pm 3\%$, P>0.05) (Figure 13, E). Significantly higher removal of phenanthridine was observed during co-incubation of phenanthrene and phenanthridine, in which nearly all of the phenanthrene and 74% ± 12% of phenanthridine was removed (Figure 13, D). In the coincubation group of anthracene, acridine, and phenanthridine (Figure 13, F), the presence of anthracene also enabled significant removal of phenanthridine ($71\% \pm 6\%$), but not acridine. In contrast to the results from the bioreactor-treated soil incubations, removal of acridine was not observed in any conditions in which feed soil was the inoculum (Figure 13, H).



Figure 12. Concentration of azaarenes and PAHs in bioreactor-treated soil (BTS). Results represent average values and standard deviations in triplicate incubations. Samples were taken at days 0 and day 21. Abbreviations: carbazole, CAR; acridine, ACR; phenanthridine PHI; anthracene ANT; phenanthrene, PHE; PHE/PHI, PP; PHE/ACI/PHI, PAP; CAR/ACI/PHI, CAP; ANT/ACI/PHI, AAP.



Figure 13. Concentration of azaarenes and PAHs in feed soil samples (FS). Results represent average values and standard deviations of triplicate incubations. Samples were taken at day 0 and day 21. Abbreviations: carbazole, CAR; acridine, ACR; phenanthridine, PHI; anthracene, ANT; phenanthrene, PHE; PHE/PHI, PP; PHE/ACI/PHI, PAP; CAR/ACI/PHI, CAP; ANT/ACI/PHI, AAP.

D. Transformation of Azaarenes by Isolates

One-hundred and ten bacterial strains were isolated from untreated (feed) or bioreactortreated soil incubations supplemented with either carbazole, acridine, or phenanthridine with the purpose of finding putative degraders of those compounds (Table 2). Each isolate also grew on R2A plates. Seventy-four isolates were also capable of growth on sRB plates containing individual azaarenes: 40 on carbazole plates, 12 on acridine plates, and 22 on phenanthridine plates. However, 42 of the isolates growing on sRB plates (including all putative acridine- and phenanthridine-degrading isolates, and 8 of the carbazole isolates) were also able to grow on unamended sRB plates, suggesting growth on medium components other than an azaarene. Nineteen of the isolates growing on sRB-carbazole plates developed large clear zones around colonies indicating transformation of the azaarene. The ability of these nineteen strains to use carbazole as a growth substrate was confirmed in liquid sRB medium with visual observation of turbidity in comparison to inoculated controls without carbazole. 17 of these isolates belonged to the bacterial genus Pseudoxanthomonas (97-100% 16S rRNA gene identity to Pseudoxanthomonas spadix strain BD-a59 or Bug 14) and 2 belonged to the genus Sphingobium (99% 16S rRNA gene identity to Sphingobium sp. HY-1). No isolates were confirmed to grow on solely acridine or phenanthridine as a growth substrate in liquid culture.

An additional three isolates were obtained from enrichment cultures of bioreactor-treated soil amended with phenanthrene, acridine, and phenanthridine. These isolates were also capable of growth on R2A plates. One isolate (strain PAP1) from this enrichment grew on sRB medium containing phenanthrene or a mixture of phenanthrene and phenanthridine, but not unamended sRB medium. Strain PAP1 was identified as a member of the *Sphingobium* genus through partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing (97% 16S rRNA gene identity to *Sphingobium* sp. BZ13). Strain

PAP1 was found unable to grow on a sRB plate amended with only phenanthridine. Its ability to transform phenanthridine was confirmed and quantified through later chemical analysis. Specifically, cultures co-incubated with phenanthridine and phenanthrene removed $27 \pm 5\%$ and $58 \pm 4\%$ of the compound, respectively.

Table 2. Closest described relatives to 44 isolates based on partial 16S rRNA genes and the azaarene-transforming ability of those isolates.

Isolates	Classifier Identification	Highest BLAST hit	Accession Number	Percentage similarity	Azaarene transformation	
FC1, FC2, SC4, SC5, FC7B, SC11, SC12, SC13, FC14, FC15, FC16, FC17, FC17B, FC20, FC21, FC22, FC25, FC31, FC32, FC34S	Pseudoxanthomonas	Pseudoxanthomonas spadix BD-a59	CP003093	99%	Carbazole	
SC2, SC6	Ramlibacter	Ramlibacter sp. HTCC332	AY429716 99%		_	
FC7S	Variovorax	Variovorax sp. 5d	HG937595	100%	_	
SC9S	Rhodopseudomonas	Rhodopseudomonas sp. IFP10	KM047482	100%	_	
FC18	Pseudoxanthomonas	Pseudoxanthomonas spadix Bug14	LN613115	97%	Carbazole	
FC19	Mucilaginibacter	<i>Mucilaginibacter</i> sp. FB14.2	AM933506	99%	_	
FC23	Polaromonas	Polaromonas sp. Gsoil115	KX066101	100%	_	
FC27, FC33, SP1	Acidovorax	Acidovorax sp. T1	KX162718	99%	_	
FC28, FC29	Sphingobium	Sphingobium sp. WH-3	KJ917397	99%	Carbazole	
FA13	Herminiimonas	Herminiimonas glaciei UMB49	NR044508	99%	_	
FA18, FP22, FP25	Staphylococcus	Staphylococcus epidermidis 1457	KY818945	100%	_	
FA18S	unclassified Acetobacteraceae	Roseococcus sp. Am10	KF444795	99%	_	
FA19	Methylobacterium	<i>Methylobacterium</i> sp. MaAL-74	KY810636 99%		_	
FP1, FP2, FP12	Methylopila	<i>Methylopila</i> sp. VVRTb25	KX504245	KX504245 99%		
FP5	Rhizobium	Rhizobium sp. M3	KY908459	94%		
FP19	Pseudoxanthomonas	Pseudoxanthomonas spadix BD-a59	CP003093	97%	_	
PAP1	Sphingobium	Sphingobium sp. BZ13	HQ588831	97%	Phenanthridine	

Note: The first and second letter of each name of isolate represents the soil condition (F, feed soil; S, bioreactor treated soil), and substrate of the incubation (C, carbazole; A, acridine; P, phenanthridine), respectively (except strain PAP1). Isolate PAP1 was isolated from feed soil, in an incubation containing phenanthrene, acridine and phenanthridine. Strains shown to be able to utilize substrates as carbon sources are bolded. Sequences were clustered based on 99% 16S rRNA gene sequence identity. Classification was performed using the Classifier algorithm of RDP [234]. The closest described relative was determined by Blast searches of GenBank.

E. Degradation Test of Azaarenes by Isolates

Seven isolates with potential to transform either azaarenes or PAHs were selected for a test employing 96-well plates to determine potential growth on a variety of aromatic substrates (Figure 3). Strain FC2 (identified as a *Pseudoxanthomonas* sp.) grew strongly on 9-fluorenone, carbazole, and phthalate. Strain FC2 was among those observed to produce clear zones on sRB plates supplemented with carbazole, and turbidity was observed in tubes of FC2 containing sRB-carbazole liquid medium. Isolates FP2 (*Methylopila* sp.), FP12 (*Methylopila* sp.), and FP19 (*Pseudoxanthomonas* sp.) each appeared to grow on multiple carbon sources, including carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine, while strain F27 (*Acidovorax* sp.) could use only phthalate as a potential carbon source. Isolates FC7S and FP22 were not positive for growth on any of the tested carbon substrates.

As this experimental 96-well plate test produced unexpected results for strain FP2 and strain FP12 (in comparison to the results shown in Table 2), the growth test was replicated for those strains. In the second round of testing, no protein accumulation indicating growth was observed for carbazole, acridine, or phenanthridine for either isolate (Appendix, Table A1). Isolates FP2 and FP12 were further tested using sRB agar plates and sRB liquid medium amended with the individual azaarenes under different concentrations (5 mg·L⁻¹, 10mg·L⁻¹, 25 mg·L⁻¹, 50 mg·L⁻¹). After 30 days of incubation, the lack of any growth indicated that FP2 and FP12 were likely not phenanthridine-degraders.

Substrate	FC2	FC7S	FC27	FP2	FP12	FP19	FP22
Fluorene	4.8 ± 8.8	7.4 ± 2.9	14.4 ± 6.8	23.5 ± 17.5	3.7 ± 4.8	35.4 ± 14.0	1.2 ± 4.2
Phenanthrene	10.4 ± 7.7	5.3 ± 2.0	13.15 ± 7.2	51.2 ± 35.1	10.3 ± 4.5	26.5 ± 11.4	6.5 ± 4.3
Anthracene	9.9 ± 5.8	2.7 ± 2.5	12.5 ± 7.1	32.0 ± 24.6	16.3 ± 13.7	5.5 ± 5.3	7.3 ± 3.5
Fluoranthene	15.7 ± 6.4	3.4 ± 1.4	16.2 ± 8.4	14.8 ± 9.9	14.3 ± 5.0	18.4 ± 5.7	8.3 ± 3.6
Pyrene	18.3 ± 12.6	8.2 ± 2.7	14.3 ± 6.5	24.2 ± 7.6	18.3 ± 8.3	36.4 ± 16.6	5.8 ± 7.0
Benz[a]anthracene	12.7 ± 6.0	5.4 ± 1.5	10.4 ± 6.4	20.1 ± 10.2	14.3 ± 9.1	4.1 ± 11.5	5.5 ± 6.9
Chrysene	11.3 ± 6.5	8.9 ± 4.9	11.8 ± 7.4	14.5 ± 10.4	5.4 ± 7.7	6.9 ± 12.0	13.7 ± 4.4
Benzo[b]fluoranthene	3.9 ± 6.1	37.7 ± 33.5	8.3 ± 6.3	5.1 ± 4.7	4.7 ± 4.4	4.7 ± 4.2	10.2 ± 5.0
Benzo[k]fluoranthene	6.3 ± 6.3	4.1 ± 1.7	8.2 ± 6.5	7.9 ± 5.5	6.9 ± 5.7	7.9 ± 2.3	2.9 ± 3.5
Benzo[a]pyrene	18.9 ± 7.1	4.2 ± 1.2	34.2 ± 40.9	46.2 ± 33.3	25.1 ± 6.4	12.7 ± 8.5	5.8 ± 3.6
Dibenzo[<i>a</i> , <i>h</i>]anthracene	13.8 ± 8.5	3.8 ± 1.7	9.2 ± 6.8	26.9 ± 4.6	32.5 ± 11.3	4.2 ± 4.8	6.7 ± 4.6
Benzo[g,h,i]perylene	18.5 ± 5.9	6.5 ± 3.7	10.5 ± 6.6	33.0 ± 4.9	13.8 ± 4.3	5.9 ± 5.5	4.7 ± 4.3
9-fluorenone	31.2 ± 12.7	2.9 ± 2.0	16.6 ± 7.7	30.0 ± 5.2	22.6 ± 4.8	28.6 ± 4.3	7.9 ± 4.4
9,10-phenanthrequinone	9.7 ± 5.7	3.8 ± 1.7	11.8 ± 7.0	31.0 ± 6.1	32.1 ± 5.6	6.2 ± 4.0	5.5 ± 3.5
9-anthrone	112.4 ± 6.0	1.9 ± 2.2	12.4 ± 7.6	18.3 ± 8.0	13.4 ± 6.5	3.3 ± 3.9	7.4 ± 5.0
9,10-anthraquinone	10.3 ± 5.9	2.7 ± 3.9	17.0 ± 7.7	56.3 ± 62.0	14.9 ± 5.2	36.0 ± 7.6	10.2 ± 5.5
Benzo[a]anthraquinone	4.9 ± 5.8	1.7 ± 1.2	9.7 ± 6.3	7.2 ± 4.8	10.9 ± 7.1	15.0 ± 6.8	3.4 ± 5.8
Carbazole	91.2 ± 18.0	2.9 ± 1.5	12.7 ± 6.3	21.5 ± 5.2	22.1 ± 4.4	7.3 ± 10.2	7.9 ± 4.0
Phenanthridine	14.4 ± 6.3	8.9 ± 3.5	11.5 ± 7.8	22.8 ± 6.8	24.8 ± 10.0	20.4 ± 2.6	8.4 ± 4.3
Acridine	14.5 ± 7.0	6.2 ± 1.8	12.3 ± 6.6	33.6 ± 1.5	22.5 ± 6.1	8.4 ± 6.7	12.3 ± 4.6
Salicylate	10.9 ± 6.4	4.2 ± 1.6	19.5 ± 10.1	33.2 ± 9.7	30.0 ± 4.3	2.4 ± 3.7	22.8 ± 8.9
Phthalate	49.5 ± 14.6	5.7 ± 2.7	45.3 ± 6.7	28.4 ± 13.3	29.2 ± 20.8	9.3 ± 5.3	8.2 ± 5.9
Hexadecane	14.3 ± 6.1	21.3 ± 33.0	11.7 ± 7.2	17.5 ± 8.6	11.5 ± 9.1	36.0 ± 5.0	11.0 ± 5.8
Negative Control	3.3 ± 7.9	0.8 ± 1.6	5.2 ± 8.9	6.7 ± 1.1	0.7 ± 6.0	12.9 ± 5.2	8.0 ± 4.8
Positive Control	108.9 ± 10.0	43.8 ± 2.7	74.1 ± 10.0	69.2 ± 19.5	64.7 ± 0.0	64.3 ± 6.6	68.4 ± 8.7

Table 3. Growth of select strains on a variety of (mostly) aromatic carbon sources in the 96-well plate assay.

Note: Values represent mean and standard deviation of protein concentrations in triplicate wells. Bold indicates conditions which satisfy the conditions of a) at least twice the value of negative control and b) near one third the value of the positive control.

F. Community Analyses

Differences in the transformation of azaarenes were attributed to microbial community shifts in the soils. Substantial changes in the bacterial community were analyzed through denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and 16S rRNA gene clone libraries. The effects of amendment of phenanthrene or anthracene in conditions also containing acridine and/or phenanthridine were analyzed by DGGE (Figure 14, 15). Profiles of incubations from feed soil (Figure 14, lanes 6-10) possessed several significant differences in comparison to the profiles of bioreactor-treated soil (Figure 14, lanes 1-5), suggesting different microbial communities responded to the presence of PAHs or azaarenes in treated versus untreated soils.

Similarities in the dominant bands present in both unamended bioreactor-treated soil samples from days 0 and 21 (Figure 14, lanes 1-2, respectively) suggested only minor community shifts due to incubation in fresh reactor buffer, although difficulties in the extraction and PCR amplification of the day 21 bioreactor-treated soil sample likely prevented the occurrence of minor bands in that profile. Incubations containing either phenanthrene or anthracene and at least one azaarene (Figure 14, lanes 3-5) contained most of the same dominant bands as were present in the unamended samples (Figure 14, lanes 1-2). In addition, samples with amended phenanthrene also contained a dominant band (Figure 14, band f) that was absent or diminished in other samples. One band (Figure 14, band d) was particularly prominent in the incubations containing anthracene, and may represent degraders of that compound. Other unidentified bands (Figure 14, bands e, g, h, and j) appeared more prominently in amended samples in comparison to unamended samples. Any of these prominent bands, either regularly present in bioreactor-treated soil, or appearing in response to amendment with a carbon source(s), might represent bacteria capable of transforming PAHs or azaarenes.

The DGGE profiles of microbial communities from the feed soil (Figure 14, lanes 6-10) were significantly different from those of bioreactor-treated soil. A microbial community shift due to the extended incubation can be observed by comparing lane 9 and lane 10, representing the day 21 and day 0 samples, respectively. Organisms represented by bands k and m displayed higher intensity after 21 days without any amended carbon. Three other bands were more prominent in PAH- and azaarene-amended samples, and were identified through partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Of particular interest were bands enriched in incubations containing either phenanthrene or anthracene, as those compounds were shown to increase phenanthridine removal in feed soil (Figure 13). One band (Figure 14, band a) identified as representing members of the Acidovorax genus (99% sequence similarity to Acidovorax sp. NA3, a known phenanthrene-degrading bacterium [235]) appeared in the 21d unamended sample, and both incubations with phenanthrene (Figure 14, lanes 6, 8-9). Band b was identified as a member of the Methyloversatilis genus (98% similarity to Methyloversatilis sp. RAC08), and was especially prominent in incubations including acridine. Bands b and c were found in all incubations containing azaarenes (Figure 14, lanes 6-8) and a sequence from that band was found to possess 99% similarity to Immundisolibacter cernigliae strain TR3.2^T, a bacterium confirmed to grow on multiple PAHs, including phenanthrene and anthracene [236].

A second DGGE gel (Figure 15) revealed community shifts due to high concentrations of individual PAHs or azaarenes. Comparable to Figure 14, different microbial communities responded to added chemicals in bioreactor-treated soil (Figure 15, lanes 1-8) compared to feed soil (Figure 15, lanes 9-16). Carbazole amendment resulted in the greatest number of newly prominent bands in both samples, suggesting several organisms capable of growth on that compound, however these bands differed between soil types (Figure 15, lanes 6 and 14). No

acridine removal was observed in feed soil samples, and the community of that incubation was highly similar to one in which no carbon was added (Figure 15, lanes 12 and 15). The microbial community of the acridine incubation of bioreactor-treated soil was also similar to its corresponding unamended incubation (Figure 15, lanes 4 and 7). However as acridine removal was observed in bioreactor-treated soil, it is likely that one or more members of the existing bioreactor community were responsible for acridine removal. Multiple bands in the bioreactor-treated soil incubation with phenanthridine, or with all three azaarenes, were more prominent than in other samples (Figure 15, lanes 1 and 2). This suggests that one or more groups of organisms were specifically selected by that carbon source. Conversely, while the feed soil did not reveal any prominent bands uniquely associated with phenanthridine degradation (Figure 15, lanes 9 and 10), new bands appearing in the incubations with PAHs suggest possible targets for organisms capable of co-metabolism of that compound.


Figure 14. Negative image of the DGGE gel (1) of DNA extraction samples from incubations on testing co-metabolism of target azaarenes. Lanes 1 to 5 represent samples from incubations with bioreactor treated soil (BTS), while lanes 6 to 10 represent samples from incubations with feed soil (FS). Additional carbon sources added to the incubations including carbazole (CAR), acridine (ACR), phenanthridine (PHI), phenanthrene (PHE), and anthracene (ANT). Lanes 1 to 5 correspond to incubation conditions as follows: day 0 BTS (control), day 21 BTS/PHE/PHI, day 21 BTS/ANT/ACR/PHI, day 21 BTS/PHE/ACR/PHI. Lanes 6 to 10 represent day 21 FS/PHE/ACR/PHI, day 21 FS/ANT/ACR/PHI, FS/PHE/PHI day 21, day 21 FS (control), day 0 FS (control).



Figure 15. Negative image of the DGGE gel (2) of DNA extraction samples from incubations on testing co-metabolism of target azaarenes. Lanes 1 to 8 represent samples from incubations with bioreactor treated soil (BTS), while lanes 9 to 16 represent samples from incubations with feed soil (FS). Additional carbon sources added to the incubations including carbazole (CAR), acridine (ACR), phenanthridine (PHI), phenanthrene (PHE), and anthracene (ANT). Lanes 1 to 8 correspond to incubation conditions as follows: day 21 BTS/CAR/ACR/PHI, day 21 BTS/PHI, day 21 BTS/ACR, day 21 BTS/ACR, day 21 BTS/ANT, day 21 BTS/CAR, day 21 BTS 21 (control), day 0 BTS (control). Lanes 9 to 16 represent day 21 FS/CAR, day 21 FS/CAR, day 21 FS/PHI, day 21 FS/PHE, day 21 FS/ACR, day 21 FS/ANT, day 21 FS/CAR, day 21 F

G. Tests of Pure Cultures for Co-metabolism of Phenanthridine

1. Acidovorax sp. NA3

DGGE analyses of feed soil samples suggested organisms similar to *Acidovorax* sp. NA3 as candidate organisms for the co-metabolism of phenanthridine utilizing phenanthrene as a primary carbon source. However, *Acidovorax* sp. NA3 in resting cell incubations supplemented with phenanthrene and select azaarenes revealed no transformation of phenanthridine (Figure 16). No significant (P<0.05) degradation of phenanthridine was detected in samples containing either phenanthrene or phenanthrene with acridine. Significant (P<0.05) removal of phenanthrene (98% \pm 3%) was observed in samples containing only that PAH, however, the lack of phenanthrene removal in all other conditions indicated nearly complete inhibition of phenanthrene degradation when phenanthridine was also present.



Figure 16. Removal of phenanthrene and phenanthridine from incubations of *Acidovorax* sp. NA3. Results represent average values and standard deviations of triplicate samples. Chemical conditions of incubation as follows: phenanthrene (PHE INDIVID.), phenanthrene / phenanthridine (PP), phenanthrene / 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine / phenanthridine (PA10P), phenanthrene / acridine / phenanthridine (PAP), 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine / phenanthridine (A10P), acridine / phenanthridine (AP).

2. Immundisolibacter cernigliae TR3.2^T

Another DGGE band potentially linked to phenanthridine removal in the feed soil was highly similar to *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T, a degrader of both anthracene and phenanthrene [236]. *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T did not demonstrate the ability to degrade phenanthridine in the presence of either phenanthrene or anthracene (Figure 17). Similar to *Acidovorax* sp. NA3, the presence of either acridine or phenanthridine inhibited the ability of TR3.2^T to transform phenanthrene (98% removal individually) or anthracene (33% removal individually).



Figure 17. Removal of anthracene, phenanthrene and phenanthridine from incubations of *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T. Results represent average values and standard deviations in triplicate samples. Results of samples with live cells were compared to acidified controls. Chemical conditions of incubation as follows: phenanthrene (PHE INDIVID.), phenanthrene / phenanthridine (PP), phenanthrene / 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine / phenanthridine (PA10P), phenanthrene / acridine / phenanthridine (PAP), 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine / phenanthridine (A10P), acridine / phenanthridine (AP), anthracene (ANT INDIVID.), anthracene / phenanthridine (ANT+P), anthracene / 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine (AA10P), anthracene / acridine / phenanthridine (AAP).

3. Sphingobium sp. PAP1

While not explicitly identified as a candidate for phenanthridine removal through DGGE analyses, *Sphingobium* sp. strain PAP1 was isolated from bioreactor-treated soil and capable of growth on phenanthrene in liquid media. Strain PAP1 was not capable of utilizing high concentrations of phenanthridine as a sole carbon source. However, results from incubations with mixtures of phenanthrene and phenanthridine indicated that strain PAP1 transformed phenanthridine in the presence of phenanthrene (Figure 18). Tested individually, strain PAP1 removed 96 ± 13% of added phenanthrene. Statistically significant (p<0.05) removal of both phenanthridine (27 ± 5%) and phenanthrene (58 ± 4%) was observed when those two substrates were added together. Samples amended with acridine (10 mg·L⁻¹) decreased the removal of both phenanthrene and phenanthridine. For samples amended with the mixture of higher amount of acridine (50 mg·L⁻¹), phenanthrene, and phenanthridine, no significant (p<0.05) removal of either phenanthrene or phenanthridine was detected.



Figure 18. Removal of phenanthrene and phenanthridine from incubations of *Sphingobium* sp. strain PAP1. Results represent average values and standard deviations in triplicate samples. Chemical conditions of incubation as follows: phenanthrene (PHE INDIVID.), phenanthrene / phenanthridine (PP), phenanthrene / 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine / phenanthridine (PA10P), phenanthrene / acridine / phenanthridine (PAP), 10 mg·L⁻¹ acridine / phenanthridine (A10P), acridine / phenanthridine (AP).

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The occurrence of azaarenes in the environment has long been associated with toxic effects [237]. However, despite their wide distribution and putative toxic properties, the fate and behavior of azaarenes in soil, especially acridine and phenanthridine, have not been reported extensively. In this research, PAH-contaminated soil (feed soil) acquired from a former manufactured gas plant site and a bioreactor-treated slurry of that soil (bioreactor-treated soil) were used to study the fate and the biodegradation of three azaarenes: carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine.

A new HPLC analytical method was developed to enable simultaneous quantification of three azaarenes, each of different hydrophobicity. Compared to carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine are relatively hydrophilic and these differences posed challenges in compound separation. Compounds with similar chromatographic polarity normally attract each other and are not easy to be separated; such was the case for acridine and phenanthridine. While C18 HPLC columns are common choices for quantification of azaarenes, we used phenyl-hexyl columns for greater selectivity and better retention of both acridine and phenanthridine [238-240]. Another crucial factor for the separation of acridine and phenanthridine was the inclusion of formic acid in the mobile phase. Our tests demonstrated that without adding 0.1% formic acid, these compounds could not be properly separated.

The results of chemical analyses demonstrated significant removal of high concentrations $(50 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1})$ of either amended acridine or phenanthridine from bioreactor treated-soil incubations (Figure 12). However, in the feed soil, removal of acridine was not observed (Figure

13, graph H), while phenanthridine removal was enhanced during co-incubation with phenanthrene with acridine or anthracene with acridine. As the removal of phenanthridine in the feed soil was induced in the presence of either phenanthrene or anthracene, the dominant mechanism of phenanthridine degradation in feed soil might be through co-metabolism. The reason why anthracene amendment resulted in increased phenanthridine removal but not acridine removal (its azaarene analogue) is still not clear. Carbazole also did not appear to be a carbon source for co-metabolizing phenanthridine as the minor increase of removal of phenanthridine in incubations containing that substrate was not statistically significant (Figure 13, graph E; P>0.05).

The bioavailability of carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine could impact the biodegradation of these azaarenes in soil. A bioavailable chemical can be described as one freely available to cross the cellular membrane of a microorganism from the medium that microorganism was incubated within a time period [241]. Azaarenes are generally more water soluble than PAHs, which makes their biodegradation more likely [180, 242]. According to the ChemIDplus Advanced database, the aqueous solubility of carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine is 1.8 mg·L⁻¹, 38.4 mg·L⁻¹, and 300 mg·L⁻¹ respectively. However, despite possessing the lowest solubility of the three compounds, carbazole was the easiest of the three tested azaarenes to be removed by microorganisms in both the feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil. An alternate explanation might be that differing levels of toxicity may explain why acridine and phenanthridine are relatively difficult to be degrade compared to carbazole. Compared to their PAH analogues, azaarenes generally have more acute toxicity [243].

To better understand the biodegradability of these three compounds, efforts were made to isolate bacteria capable of degrading carbazole, acridine, and phenanthridine. The largest number

of carbazole degraders were isolated from the feed soil, indicating that it might include a more diverse group of organisms able to use carbazole as a carbon source. It is perhaps unsurprising to obtain isolates belonging to a variety of bacterial taxa from feed soil rather than bioreactor-treated slurry. The microbial community of the bioreactor is less diverse than that of the feed soil [244] and is adapted to grow on abundant carbon sources found in the soil, of which azaarenes are a minor component. Azaarene degradation in the bioreactor, especially carbazole, is therefore likely accomplished by high abundance, aromatic-degrading bacteria, such as *Immundisolibacter* spp., one strain of which has been shown to degrade carbazole [236]. Such organisms are also among the most dominant in the stable bioreactor community [244]. The lack of a specialized community for the degradation of aromatics in the feed soil therefore provides opportunities for low abundance bacteria capable of utilizing azaarenes as growth substrates to grow during enrichments.

Isolates from two major genera, *Sphingobium* and *Pseudoxanthomonas*, were identified among the putative carbazole degraders. At least one *Sphingobium* strain is capable of utilizing carbazole as a sole carbon and energy source [108] while *Pseudoxanthomonas* spp. have only rarely been reported to utilize azaarenes [153]. Most of the putative carbazole-degrading isolates from the soils examined here belonged to the genus *Pseudoxanthomonas* and were highly similar to *Pseudoxanthomonas spadix*. However no previous report of this species indicated its association with carbazole degradation. The type strain of *Pseudoxanthomonas spadix* was initially isolated from a sample of oil-contaminated soil and it was also reported to be able to degrade the BTEX compounds benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and o-, m-, and p-xylenes [245, 246]. Other *Pseudoxanthomonas* spp. have been reported to degrade a variety of aromatic chemicals including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane

(DDT), benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes, hexachlorocyclohexane, di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), diesel oil, crude oil and n-alkanes [153, 247, 248].

Fewer isolates were obtained from feed soil or bioreactor-treated soil enrichments amended individually with either acridine or phenanthridine and those that were recovered did not use those azaarenes as sole carbon sources when examined more closely. Similarly, some isolates isolated from carbazole enrichments (e.g. strain FC7S; a Variovorax sp.) were also found unlikely to utilize that azaarene as a sole carbon source. Some isolates recovered from azaarene enrichments, including strains representing the genera Herminiimonas, and Variovorax, possessed 16S rRNA gene sequences 99% identical to sequences previously associated with either phenanthrene or anthracene degradation via DNA-based stable-isotope probing (SIP) [249, 250]. Given that anthracene and phenanthrene are PAH analogues of acridine and phenanthridine, respectively, it might be reasonable to assume that an anthracene degrader might also be able to metabolize acridine, or a phenanthrene degrader to degrade phenanthridine. However, strains FC7S (Variovorax sp.) and FA13 (Herminiimonas glaciei), did not show the ability to grow either on sRB plates or in sRB liquid medium amended with individual acridine or phenanthridine. It is more likely that these organisms, and others that grew on azaareneamended plates but could not grow on those compounds individually when tested in liquid media, grew using some other media component (including possible trace amounts of contaminant chemicals). This would be consistent with the generally small colony size and long period of growth observed during isolation of most of these bacteria.

There are many reasons that might explain why no confirmed acridine or phenanthridine degraders were isolated. Like the vast majority of unisolated bacteria, they simply may be unculturable under the tested conditions. Despite the success of the employed medium for the

isolation of PAH-degrading bacteria [236, 251], other kinds of medium or growth conditions may be required for isolation of azaarene-degraders. Initial high concentrations of azaarenes in the incubation may also have inhibited the activity of soil bacteria. An inhibitory effect on microbial degradation was reported previously for azaarenes like acridine, quinolone, and benzoquinolines [194, 198, 252]. Acridine- and phenanthridine-degrading bacteria may also be present in very low abundance given the low concentration of azaarenes in our contaminated soils compared to PAHs (unpublished data from Dr. Damian Shea, North Carolina State University). This contrasts with results from both feed soil and bioreactor soil incubations suggesting that a higher concentration of carbazole can increase the activity of that microbial community. In this experiment, more turbidity was observed for samples of bioreactor-treated soil amended with higher concentrations of carbazole. However, the lack of significant microbial growth for samples with acridine or phenanthridine suggested either a very low abundance of organisms capable of growth on those compounds, or potentially a strong inhibitory effect of those compounds. A previous report suggested that the reasonable concentration of azaarenes used for a growth test should be within the range of $4.4-17.4 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ based on the probable bacterial toxicity of the azaarenes [194]. However, results from samples amended with either 10 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ acridine or phenanthridine did not indicate significant growth, so possible inhibitory effects even at this lower concentration cannot be entirely discounted.

A recently developed, but still experimental, test for the growth of bacteria on a variety of aromatic substrates (designed by Dr. Joaquim Vila Grajales) was used to investigate the degradation ability of strains of interest utilizing xenobiotic compounds, including PAHs and the three target azaarenes. In this test 25 different carbon sources were simultaneously tested in one 96-well plate and the results quantified by protein concentration. However, while showing

indications of promise, the results of this study indicated that this method may need further refinement. The standard deviation of triplicate samples was often large. One possible reason to cause this problem could be variability in the number of cells added to each well, despite efforts to standardize the inoculum. The small volume of the test combined with the requirement of low protein background necessitated adding very low concentrations of cells. Even small discrepancies in the amount of cell material added, especially if the organism is slow growing, could have substantially affected the final protein values. The material of the 96-well plate also likely affected results. To dissolve the various carbon sources efficiently, a strong solvent was used. However, the dichloromethane solvent physically damaged the polystyrene 96-well plate which may have affected both the growth of microorganisms and the bioavailability of the substrate [253]. Subsequent tests of the method utilizing freshly added growth substrates compared to plates prepared and stored prior to inoculation (such as was used in this experiment) have resulted in more consistent readings among triplicates (Dr. Joaquim Vila Grajales, personal communication); however this refinement was not performed during the testing of the isolates from this experiment. Additional sources of error may be due to evaporation or accidental mixing of well contents during the long incubation process or when handling the plate. Thus, even though some tested strains from this experiment showed statistically significant (P < 0.05) protein accumulation on some carbon sources after 30 days of incubation, including azaarenes and some rarely reported biodegradable high-molecular weight PAHs, some results were neither reproducible nor consistent with other experiments. Considering its limitations, at this point we recommend using this test only as a first step screen to determine potential compounds which may be used as a growth source if results are reproducible. However, the findings should be confirmed with subsequent tests, such as was done here for strain FC2, which was revealed to

degrade carbazole by both the 96-well plate test and additional solid medium plate tests and liquid medium tests.

Bacterial community profiles from DGGE analysis revealed differences in the microbial communities responding to the presence of PAHs and azaarenes. In bioreactor-treated soil samples, DGGE profiles suggested only minor community shifts over 21 days incubation. However, two new bands (Figure 15; bands e and j) became prominent in samples amended with phenanthridine (Figure 15, lanes 1 and 2). These prominent bands might represent bacteria capable of utilizing phenanthridine as a growth substrate. Given the removal of both acridine and phenanthridine in bioreactor treated soils, it is likely that several organisms abundant in the bioreactor not only tolerated high concentration of azaarenes but were also involved in the removal process for acridine and phenanthridine. Moreover, DGGE bands presumably representing bioreactor organisms associated with carbazole removal (Figure 15; lane 6) were not the same as those implicated in phenanthridine removal, and we observed no increase in phenanthridine removal when carbazole was added. For bioreactor-treated soil, the addition of PAHs (phenanthrene or anthracene) did not appear to be a factor in the removal of acridine or phenanthridine.

For untreated feed soil samples, while acridine removal was not significant under any condition tested, there were indications that co-metabolism with either phenanthrene or anthracene might be a mechanism for the removal of phenanthridine. One DGGE band (Figure 14; band c; lanes 6, 7, 8) became extremely abundant in samples amended with phenanthridine and PAHs (phenanthrene or anthracene), and these same samples showed significant removal of phenanthridine (Figure 13). Sequencing of clones from band c identified organisms with 99% 16S rRNA gene similarity to *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* strain TR3.2^T, a member of one of

the dominant genera in the bioreactor and a known degrader of both anthracene and phenanthrene [236]. Immundisolibacter spp. therefore may be actively involved in cometabolizing phenanthridine. Other sequenced bands (Figure 14; band a) represented organisms from the Acidovorax genus and were primarily associated with amended phenanthrene (Figure 14; lanes 6, 8). Members of the Acidovorax genus are abundant in the bioreactor and have previously been associated with phenanthrene degradation [235]. Interestingly, as the band from the DGGE profile of feed soil most similar to Immundisolibacter was not apparent in bioreactortreated soil (Figure 14; lanes 6-8 compared to lanes 1-5), those organisms that grew in enrichments of the feed soil may be substantially different from *Immundisolibacter* organisms abundant in the bioreactor, or strain TR3.2^T, which was originally isolated from bioreactortreated soil [236]. The final enrichment band that may represent a co-metabolizer of azaarenes was identified as a *Methyloversatilis* spp., although no isolate from that genus was recovered during this experiment. Methyloversatilis species are methylotropes that grow primarily on single carbon (C-1) compounds. *Methyloversatilis* spp. have been connected to the degradation of benazolin-ethyl in activated sludge [254, 255] but have not been implicated in the degradation of azaarenes.

Transformation of phenanthridine may occur in these soils through several processes including: (1) organisms growing on either anthracene or phenanthrene as a carbon source and metabolizing phenanthridine through an independent metabolic pathway, or (2) induced enzymes in PAH-degrading organisms may transform phenanthridine as well. No major peaks that might represent phenanthridine metabolites were detected during HPLC analysis of phenanthridinecontaining samples, so any metabolites produced might be transient and degradable for

microorganisms in the soil. None of our data suggest which mechanism might be the case in these soils, and are a topic for future research.

To further investigate the capabilities of pure cultures corresponding to genera from prominent DGGE bands and isolated azaarene degraders, co-metabolism experiments were performed using three isolates: Acidovorax sp. NA3 (a known phenanthrene degrader) [235], *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T (phenanthrene and anthracene degrader) [236], and Sphingobium sp. PAP1 (phenanthrene degrader). Neither Acidovorax sp. NA3 nor *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* TR3.2^T showed the ability to transform a high concentration of phenanthridine using either anthracene or phenanthrene as a primary carbon source. In fact, the reduced removal of either phenanthrene or anthracene by these isolates in the presence of azaarenes suggests toxic or inhibitory effects of those compounds on PAH degradation. However, the possibility that other members of those genera or even a microbial consortium of those organisms possess the ability to transform azaarenes cannot be discounted. Evidence indicated that Sphingobium sp. PAP1 was capable of transforming phenanthridine. Interestingly, additional acridine may have inhibited the ability of strain PAP1 to transform phenanthridine, with a statically significant (p < 0.05) lower amount of phenanthridine transformed (27% \pm 5%) compared to conditions without acridine (Figure 18). For this pure culture experiment with strain PAP1, UV detection during HPLC analyses did detect a peak other than the azaarene and PAHs. This unidentified peak could represent a transformation metabolite of phenanthridine and could give clues to the metabolic pathway through which that azaarene is degraded.

Conclusions. Despite the potential inhibitory effect on soil microbial communities, degradation of carbazole, acridine and phenanthridine was observed in contaminated soils and quantified using a newly developed HPLC protocol. Carbazole was readily degraded in both

untreated feed soil and bioreactor-treated soil, and carbazole-degrading bacteria were isolated with most strains belonging to the genus *Pseudoxanthomonas*. Co-metabolism was suggested as a major mechanism for the removal of phenanthridine from feed soil, with the isolated *Sphingobium* strain PAP1 capable of co-metabolism of phenanthridine using phenanthrene as a primary carbon source [249]. Anthracene was also indicated as a carbon source for co-metabolizing phenanthridine in feed soil. Both acridine and phenanthridine were readily degraded in bioreactor-treated soil, most likely by abundant organisms already present in the aerobic bioreactor. Pure cultures of *Immundisolibacter cernigliae* strain TR3.2^T and *Acidovorax* sp. NA3 did not show the ability to transform either acridine or phenanthridine, although other members of those genera may possess that ability.

Future work. Stable isotope probing (SIP) using labeled azaarenes may allow the identification of specific organisms associated with removal of azaarenes. Detailed microbial community analysis employing next-generation sequencing could also provide more information regarding the specific organisms associated with the removal or co-metabolism of azaarenes [256]. Identifying the metabolic pathway of degradation through the analysis of metabolites could be performed with *Sphingobium* strain PAP1. Better understanding of the indigenous azaarene degraders and pathways of the biodegradation of azaarenes could lead to better strategies for the remediation of contaminated sites and treatment of azaarene-related industrial wastes.

APPENDIX

Table A1. Re-growth of select strains on a variety of (mostly) aromatic carbon sources in the 96-well plate assay.

Substrate	FP2	FP12
Fluorene	11.3 ± 5.5	1.2 ± 0.0
Phenanthrene	4.6 ± 1.3	6.5 ± 2.5
Anthracene	3.2 ± 1.1	5.6 ± 3.7
Fluoranthene	3.8 ± 1.9	10.3 ± 5.0
Pyrene	18.8 ± 4.6	8.3 ± 6.3
Benzo(a)Anthracene	2.1 ± 0.0	4.3 ± 1.1
Chrysene	3.7 ± 3.4	1.4 ± 0.7
Benzo(b)Fluoranthene	11.2 ± 4.7	2.7 ± 1.4
Benzo(k)Fluoranthene	3.5 ± 1.5	4.5 ± 2.7
Benzo(a)Pyrene	4.2 ± 3.3	1.1 ± 0.0
Dibenzo(a,h)Anthtracene	6.5 ± 1.8	2.8 ± 1.2
Benzo(g,h,i)Perylene	12.0 ± 4.1	3.4 ± 2.9
9-Fluorenone	1.0 ± 0.0	7.2 ± 3.8
9,10-Phenanthrenequinone	12.1 ± 3.1	6.3 ± 2.3
9-Anthrone	3.3 ± 3.2	8.4 ± 5.8
9,10-Anthraquinone	4.3 ± 2.4	1.9 ± 1.3
Benzo(a)Anthraquinone	9.3 ± 1.8	14 ± 8.1
Carbazole	1.5 ± 1.2	6.1 ± 2.4
Phenanthridine	2.0 ± 1.6	1.8 ± 1.0
Acridine	2.6 ± 1.5	12.5 ± 3.4
Salycilate	$\textbf{38.2} \pm \textbf{10.7}$	19.9 ± 3.6
Phthalate	4.6 ± 1.2	7.1 ± 2.4
Hexadecane	1.2 ± 1.2	3.5 ± 2.6
Negative control	3.2 ± 2.1	3.6 ± 2.0
Positive control	56.4 ± 10.5	62.4 ± 3.1

Note: Values represent mean and standard deviation of protein concentrations in triplicate wells. Bold indicates conditions which satisfy the conditions of a) at least twice the value of negative control and b) near one third the value of the positive control.

REFERENCES

- Andersson, J.T. and C. Achten, *Time to say goodbye to the 16 EPA PAHs? Toward an up-to-date use of PACs for environmental purposes*. Polycyclic aromatic compounds, 2015. 35(2-4): p. 330-354.
- 2. Shayler, H., M. McBride, and E. Harrison, *Sources and Impacts of Contaminants in Soils*. *Cornell Waste Management Institute*. 2009.
- Krishna, A. and P. Govil, Soil contamination due to heavy metals from an industrial area of Surat, Gujarat, Western India. Environmental monitoring and assessment, 2007. 124(1): p. 263-275.
- 4. Valentín, L., A. Nousiainen, and A. Mikkonen, *Introduction to organic contaminants in soil: concepts and risks*, in *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges*. 2013, Springer. p. 1-29.
- 5. Brookes, P., *The use of microbial parameters in monitoring soil pollution by heavy metals.* Biology and Fertility of soils, 1995. **19**(4): p. 269-279.
- 6. Zhuang, P., et al., *Heavy metal contamination in soils and food crops around Dabaoshan mine in Guangdong, China: implication for human health.* Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 2009. **31**(6): p. 707-715.
- 7. Khan, S., et al., *Health risks of heavy metals in contaminated soils and food crops irrigated with wastewater in Beijing, China.* Environmental pollution, 2008. **152**(3): p. 686-692.
- 8. Unwin, J., et al., An assessment of occupational exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the UK. Annals of Occupational Hygiene, 2006. **50**(4): p. 395-403.
- 9. Diggs, D.L., et al., *Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and digestive tract cancers: a perspective*. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part C, 2011. **29**(4): p. 324-357.
- 10. Martin, S. and W. Griswold, *Human health effects of heavy metals*. Environ Sci Technol Brief Cit, 2009. **15**: p. 1-6.
- 11. Futrell, J.W., *Hazardous Wastes and Toxic Substances: Lessons from Superfund, RCRA, and Other Environmental Laws.* Hous. L. Rev., 1987. **24**: p. 125.
- 12. USEPA, A., *resource for MGP site characterization and remediation*. 2000, EPA/542-R-00-005, Washington, DC.
- 13. Hatheway, A.W., *Remediation of former manufactured gas plants and other coal-tar sites*. 2012: CRC Press Boca Raton, FL.
- 14. Luthy, R.G., et al., *Remediating tar-contaminated soils at manufactured gas plant sites*. Environmental science & technology, 1994. **28**(6): p. 266A-276A.

- 15. Erickson, D.C., R.C. Loehr, and E.F. Neuhauser, *PAH loss during bioremediation of manufactured gas plant site soils*. Water Research, 1993. **27**(5): p. 911-919.
- 16. Kim, K.-H., et al., A review of airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and their human health effects. Environment international, 2013. **60**: p. 71-80.
- 17. Muñoz, B. and A. Albores, *DNA damage caused by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: mechanisms and markers*. 2011: INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- 18. Kuppusamy, S., et al., *Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by novel bacterial consortia tolerant to diverse physical settings–Assessments in liquid-and slurry-phase systems.* International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, 2016. **108**: p. 149-157.
- 19. Kuppusamy, S., et al., *Remediation approaches for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons* (*PAHs*) contaminated soils: Technological constraints, emerging trends and future directions. Chemosphere, 2017. **168**: p. 944-968.
- 20. Marynowski, L., et al., *Molecular composition of fossil charcoal and relationship with incomplete combustion of wood*. Organic Geochemistry, 2014. **77**: p. 22-31.
- 21. Katsoyiannis, A. and K. Breivik, *Model-based evaluation of the use of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons molecular diagnostic ratios as a source identification tool.* Environmental pollution, 2014. **184**: p. 488-494.
- 22. Mohan, S.V., et al., *Bioremediation technologies for treatment of PAH-contaminated soil and strategies to enhance process efficiency*. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology, 2006. **5**(4): p. 347-374.
- Wild, S.R. and K.C. Jones, *Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in the United Kingdom environment: a preliminary source inventory and budget*. Environmental pollution, 1995. 88(1): p. 91-108.
- Masih, A. and A. Taneja, *Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) concentrations and related carcinogenic potencies in soil at a semi-arid region of India*. Chemosphere, 2006. 65(3): p. 449-456.
- 25. Cachada, A., et al., *Levels, sources and potential human health risks of organic pollutants in urban soils.* Science of the Total Environment, 2012. **430**: p. 184-192.
- 26. Abdel-Shafy, H.I. and M.S. Mansour, *A review on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: source, environmental impact, effect on human health and remediation.* Egyptian Journal of Petroleum, 2016. **25**(1): p. 107-123.
- 27. NTP, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: 15 Listings benz[a]anthracene, benzo[b]fluoranthene, benzo[j]fluoranthene, benzo[k]fluoranthene, benzo[a]pyrene, dibenz[a,h]acridine, dibenz[a,j]acridine, dibenz[a,h]anthracene, 7Hdibenzo[c,g]carbazole, dibenzo[a,e]pyrene, dibenzo[a,h]pyrene, dibenzo[a,i]pyrene,

dibenzo[a,l]pyrene, indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene, 5-methylchrysene. Rep Carcinog, 2011. **12**: p. 353-61.

- 28. Keith, L.H., *The Source of US EPA's Sixteen PAH Priority Pollutants*. Polycyclic Aromatic Compounds, 2015. **35**(2-4): p. 147-160.
- 29. Irigaray, P., et al., *Benzo [a] pyrene impairs β-adrenergic stimulation of adipose tissue lipolysis and causes weight gain in mice.* FEBS Journal, 2006. **273**(7): p. 1362-1372.
- 30. Achten, C. and J.T. Andersson, *Overview of polycyclic aromatic compounds (PAC)*. Polycyclic aromatic compounds, 2015. **35**(2-4): p. 177-186.
- Shimada, T. and Y. Fujii-Kuriyama, Metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to carcinogens by cytochromes P450 1A1 and1B1. Cancer science, 2004. 95(1): p. 1-6.
- 32. Li, B., H.C. Bisgaard, and V.E. Forbes, *Identification and expression of two novel cytochrome P450 genes, belonging to CYP4 and a new CYP331 family, in the polychaete Capitella capitata sp. I.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2004. **325**(2): p. 510-517.
- 33. Shimada, T., et al., *Activation of chemically diverse procarcinogens by human cytochrome P-450 1B1*. Cancer research, 1996. **56**(13): p. 2979-2984.
- 34. Sundberg, K., et al., *Differences in the catalytic efficiencies of allelic variants of glutathione transferase P1-1 towards carcinogenic diol epoxides of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.* Carcinogenesis, 1998. **19**(3): p. 433-436.
- 35. Desler, C., C. Johannessen, and L.J. Rasmussen, *Repair of DNA damage induced by anthanthrene, a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) without bay or fjord regions.* Chemico-biological interactions, 2009. **177**(3): p. 212-217.
- 36. Nadarajah, N., et al., *Enhanced transformation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using a combined Fenton's reagent, microbial treatment and surfactants.* Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2002. **59**(4-5): p. 540-544.
- Sanches, S., et al., *Bioremoval of priority polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by a microbial community with high sorption ability*. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 2017. 24(4): p. 3550-3561.
- 38. Pino-Herrera, D.O., et al., *Removal mechanisms in aerobic slurry bioreactors for remediation of soils and sediments polluted with hydrophobic organic compounds: An overview.* Journal of Hazardous Materials, 2017.
- 39. Aydin, S., et al., Aerobic and anaerobic fungal metabolism and Omics insights for increasing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons biodegradation. Fungal Biology Reviews, 2017.

- 40. Zhang, C. and G.N. Bennett, *Biodegradation of xenobiotics by anaerobic bacteria*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2005. **67**(5): p. 600-618.
- 41. Kim, H.S., K.S. Lindsay, and F.K. Pfaender, *Enhanced mobilization of field contaminated soil-bound PAHs to the aqueous phase under anaerobic conditions*. Water, air, and soil pollution, 2008. **189**(1-4): p. 135-147.
- 42. Karthikeyan, R. and A. Bhandari, *Anaerobic biotransformation of aromatic and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil microcosms: a review.* Journal of hazardous substance research, 2001. **3**(3): p. 3_1.
- 43. Johnsen, A.R., L.Y. Wick, and H. Harms, *Principles of microbial PAH-degradation in soil*. Environmental pollution, 2005. **133**(1): p. 71-84.
- 44. Czaplicki, L.M., et al., A New Perspective on Sustainable Soil Remediation—Case Study Suggests Novel Fungal Genera Could Facilitate in situ Biodegradation of Hazardous Contaminants. Remediation Journal, 2016. **26**(2): p. 59-72.
- 45. Cerniglia, C.E., *Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons*. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 1993. **4**(3): p. 331-338.
- 46. Eggleton, J. and K.V. Thomas, *A review of factors affecting the release and bioavailability of contaminants during sediment disturbance events*. Environment international, 2004. **30**(7): p. 973-980.
- 47. Cornelissen, G., et al., *Rapidly desorbing fractions of PAHs in contaminated sediments as a predictor of the extent of bioremediation*. Environmental Science & Technology, 1998.
 32(7): p. 966-970.
- 48. Monod, J., *Recherches sur la croissance des cultures bacteriennes*. 1942.
- 49. Deeb, R.A. and L. Alvarez-Cohen, *Temperature Effects and Substrate Interactions During the Aerobic Biotransformation of BTEX Mixtures by Toluene-Enriched Consortia and Rhodococcus rhodochrous.* Biotechnol Bioeng, 1999. **62**: p. 526-536.
- 50. Charng, M.K., T.C. Voice, and C.S. Criddle, *Kinetics of competitive inhibition and cometabolism in the biodegradation of benzene, toluene, and p-xylene by two Pseudomonas isolates.* Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 1993. **41**(11): p. 1057-1065.
- 51. Ren, Y.-X., et al., *Effects of bacterial activity on estrogen removal in nitrifying activated sludge*. Water Research, 2007. **41**(14): p. 3089-3096.
- 52. Hazen, T.C., *Cometabolic bioremediation*, in *Handbook of Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology*. 2010, Springer. p. 2505-2514.
- 53. Wang, C., et al., *Enzyme activities during degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by white rot fungus Phanerochaete chrysosporium in soils.* Chemosphere, 2009. **77**(6): p. 733-738.

- 54. Stringfellow, W.T. and M.D. Aitken, *Competitive metabolism of naphthalene*, *methylnaphthalenes, and fluorene by phenanthrene-degrading pseudomonads*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1995. **61**(1): p. 357-362.
- 55. Guerin, W.F. and G.E. Jones, *Mineralization of phenanthrene by a Mycobacterium sp.* Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1988. **54**(4): p. 937-944.
- 56. Molina, M., R. Araujo, and R.E. Hodson, *Cross-induction of pyrene and phenanthrene in a Mycobacterium sp. isolated from polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon contaminated river sediments.* Canadian journal of microbiology, 1999. **45**(6): p. 520-529.
- 57. Kiyohara, H. and K. Nagao, *The catabolism of phenanthrene and naphthalene by bacteria*. Microbiology, 1978. **105**(1): p. 69-75.
- Weissenfels, W.D., M. Beyer, and J. Klein, *Degradation of phenanthrene, fluorene and fluoranthene by pure bacterial cultures*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 1990. 32(4): p. 479-484.
- 59. Kiyohara, H., K. Nagao, and R. Nomi, *Degradation of phenanthrene through o-phthalate by an Aeromonas sp.* Agricultural and biological chemistry, 1976. **40**(6): p. 1075-1082.
- 60. Pinyakong, O., et al., *Identification of novel metabolites in the degradation of phenanthrene by Sphingomonas sp. strain P2*. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 2000. **191**(1): p. 115-121.
- 61. Shuttleworth, K. and C. Cerniglia, *Bacterial degradation of low concentrations of phenanthrene and inhibition by naphthalene*. Microbial Ecology, 1996. **31**(3): p. 305-317.
- 62. Pinyakong, O., et al., *Identification of three novel salicylate 1-hydroxylases involved in the phenanthrene degradation of Sphingobium sp. strain P2*. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2003. **301**(2): p. 350-357.
- 63. Samanta, S.K., A.K. Chakraborti, and R.K. Jain, *Degradation of phenanthrene by different bacteria: evidence for novel transformation sequences involving the formation of 1-naphthol.* Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 1999. **53**(1): p. 98-107.
- 64. Seo, J.-S., et al., *Degradation of phenanthrene by Burkholderia sp. C3: initial 1, 2-and 3, 4-dioxygenation and meta-and ortho-cleavage of naphthalene-1, 2-diol.* Biodegradation, 2007. **18**(1): p. 123-131.
- 65. Cui, C., et al., Isolation, charcaterization of an anthracene degrading bacterium Martelella sp. AD-3 and cloning of dioxygenase gene. Huan jing ke xue= Huanjing kexue, 2012.
 33(11): p. 4062-4068.
- 66. Zeinali, M., M. Vossoughi, and S. Ardestani, *Degradation of phenanthrene and anthracene by Nocardia otitidiscaviarum strain TSH1, a moderately thermophilic bacterium.* Journal of applied microbiology, 2008. **105**(2): p. 398-406.

- 67. Sutherland, J.B., et al., *Stereoselective formation of a K-region dihydrodiol from phenanthrene by Streptomyces flavovirens*. Archives of microbiology, 1990. **154**(3): p. 260-266.
- 68. Mallick, S., S. Chatterjee, and T.K. Dutta, *A novel degradation pathway in the assimilation of phenanthrene by Staphylococcus sp. strain PN/Y via meta-cleavage of 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid: formation of trans-2, 3-dioxo-5-(2'-hydroxyphenyl)-pent-4-enoic acid.* Microbiology, 2007. **153**(7): p. 2104-2115.
- 69. Keum, Y.-S., et al., *Degradation pathways of phenanthrene by Sinorhizobium sp. C4.* Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2006. **71**(6): p. 935-941.
- Cerniglia, C. and S. Yang, Stereoselective metabolism of anthracene and phenanthrene by the fungus Cunninghamella elegans. Applied and environmental microbiology, 1984.
 47(1): p. 119-124.
- 71. Bezalel, L., Y. Hadar, and C.E. Cerniglia, *Enzymatic mechanisms involved in phenanthrene degradation by the white rot fungus Pleurotus ostreatus*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1997. **63**(7): p. 2495-2501.
- 72. Waigi, M.G., et al., *Phenanthrene biodegradation by sphingomonads and its application in the contaminated soils and sediments: a review*. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, 2015. **104**: p. 333-349.
- 73. Habe, H. and T. Omori, *Genetics of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon metabolism in diverse aerobic bacteria*. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 2003. **67**(2): p. 225-243.
- 74. Prabhu, Y. and P. Phale, *Biodegradation of phenanthrene by Pseudomonas sp. strain PP2: novel metabolic pathway, role of biosurfactant and cell surface hydrophobicity in hydrocarbon assimilation.* Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2003. **61**(4): p. 342-351.
- 75. Tao, X.-Q., et al., *A phenanthrene-degrading strain Sphingomonas sp. GY2B isolated from contaminated soils.* Process Biochemistry, 2007. **42**(3): p. 401-408.
- 76. Wilson, S.C. and K.C. Jones, *Bioremediation of soil contaminated with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): a review.* Environmental pollution, 1993. **81**(3): p. 229-249.
- 77. Jacques, R.J., et al., Anthracene biodegradation by Pseudomonas sp. isolated from a petrochemical sludge landfarming site. International biodeterioration & biodegradation, 2005. **56**(3): p. 143-150.
- 78. Santos, E.C., et al., *Anthracene biodegradation and surface activity by an iron-stimulated Pseudomonas sp.* Bioresource technology, 2008. **99**(7): p. 2644-2649.

- 79. Moody, J.D., et al., *Degradation of phenanthrene and anthracene by cell suspensions of Mycobacterium sp. strain PYR-1*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2001. **67**(4): p. 1476-1483.
- 80. Van Herwijnen, R., et al., *Degradation of anthracene by Mycobacterium sp. strain LB501T proceeds via a novel pathway, through o-phthalic acid.* Applied and environmental microbiology, 2003. **69**(1): p. 186-190.
- 81. Dean-Ross, D., et al., *Metabolism of anthracene by a Rhodococcus species*. FEMS microbiology letters, 2001. **204**(1): p. 205-211.
- 82. Cui, C.-Z., et al., *Effect of rhamnolipids on degradation of anthracene by two newly isolated strains, Sphingomonas sp. 12A and Pseudomonas sp. 12B.* J Microbiol Biotechnol, 2008. **18**: p. 63-66.
- 83. Ahmed, A.T., et al., *Degradation of anthracene by alkaliphilic bacteria Bacillus badius*. Environment and Pollution, 2012. **1**(2): p. 97.
- Salam, L.B., O.S. Obayori, and N.O. Olatoye, *Biodegradation of anthracene by a novel actinomycete, Microbacterium sp. isolated from tropical hydrocarbon-contaminated soil.* World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2014. 30(1): p. 335-341.
- 85. Nie, M., Z. Zhang, and P. Lei, *Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by a preponderant Brevibacterium*. Huan jing ke xue= Huanjing kexue, 2001. **22**(6): p. 83-85.
- 86. Juhasz, A.L., M. Britz, and G. Stanley, *Degradation of fluoranthene, pyrene, benz [a] anthracene and dibenz [a, h] anthracene by Burkholderia cepacia.* Journal of Applied Microbiology, 1997. **83**(2): p. 189-198.
- 87. Ye, J.-S., et al., *Biodegradation of anthracene by Aspergillus fumigatus*. Journal of hazardous materials, 2011. **185**(1): p. 174-181.
- 88. Jové, P., et al., *Fungal biodegradation of anthracene-polluted cork: A comparative study*. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A, 2016. **51**(1): p. 70-77.
- 89. Wu, Y.-R., Z.-H. Luo, and L. Vrijmoed, *Biodegradation of anthracene and benz [a] anthracene by two Fusarium solani strains isolated from mangrove sediments*. Bioresource technology, 2010. **101**(24): p. 9666-9672.
- 90. van Herwijnen, R., et al., *Elucidation of the metabolic pathway of fluorene and cometabolic pathways of phenanthrene, fluoranthene, anthracene and dibenzothiophene by Sphingomonas sp. LB126.* Research in Microbiology, 2003. **154**(3): p. 199-206.
- 91. Singh, G.B., et al., *Biodegradation of carbazole by newly isolated Acinetobacter spp.* Bull Environ Contam Toxicol, 2011. **87**(5): p. 522-6.

- 92. Jung, D.K., T. Klaus, and K. Fent, *Cytochrome P450 induction by nitrated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, azaarenes, and binary mixtures in fish hepatoma cell line PLHC-1*. Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 2001. **20**(1): p. 149-159.
- 93. Grosser, R.J., D. Warshawsky, and J.R. Vestal, *Indigenous and enhanced mineralization of pyrene, benzo[a]pyrene, and carbazole in soils*. Appl Environ Microbiol, 1991. **57**(12): p. 3462-9.
- 94. Padoley, K., S. Mudliar, and R. Pandey, *Heterocyclic nitrogenous pollutants in the environment and their treatment options–an overview*. Bioresource technology, 2008. **99**(10): p. 4029-4043.
- 95. Anyanwu, I.N. and K.T. Semple, *Fate and behaviour of nitrogen-containing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil*. Environmental Technology & Innovation, 2015. **3**: p. 108-120.
- 96. LAVOIE, E.J., A. SHIGEMATSU, and A. RIVENSON, *The carcinogenicity of quinoline and benzoquinolines in newborn CD-1 mice*. Japanese Journal of Cancer Research GANN, 1987. **78**(2): p. 139-143.
- 97. Froehner, S., K.S. Machado, and F. Falcão, *Adsorption of dibenzothiophene by vermiculite in hydrophobic form, impregnated with copper ions and in natural form.* Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 2010. **209**(1-4): p. 357-363.
- 98. King, M.W. and J.F. Barker, *Migration and natural fate of a coal tar creosote plume: 1. Overview and plume development.* Journal of Contaminant Hydrology, 1999. **39**(3): p. 249-279.
- 99. Mueller, J.G., P.J. Chapman, and P.H. Pritchard, *Creosote-contaminated sites. Their potential for bioremediation*. Environmental science & technology, 1989. **23**(10): p. 1197-1201.
- 100. Nestler, F.M., *Characterization of wood-preserving coal-tar creosote by gas-liquid chromatography*. Analytical Chemistry, 1974. **46**(1): p. 46-53.
- 101. Nam, I.-H., et al., A Catabolic Activity of Sphingomonas wittichii RW1 in the Biotransformation of Carbazole. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 2011. 223(2): p. 943-949.
- 102. Bernadette, E.L. and D. Warshawsky, *Binding of 7H-dibenzo [c, g] carbazole to polynucleotides and DNA in vitro*. Carcinogenesis, 1989. **10**(12): p. 2187-2195.
- 103. Tsuda, H., et al., *Carcinogenic effect of carbazole in the liver of (C57BL/6N× C3H/HeN) F1 mice*. journal of the National Cancer Institute, 1982. **69**(6): p. 1383-1389.
- 104. Benedik, M.J., et al., *Microbial denitrogenation of fossil fuels*. Trends in biotechnology, 1998. **16**(9): p. 390-395.

- 105. Jha, A.M. and M.K. Bharti, *Mutagenic profiles of carbazole in the male germ cells of Swiss albino mice*. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 2002. **500**(1): p. 97-101.
- 106. Vogel, T.M., *Bioaugmentation as a soil bioremediation approach*. Current opinion in biotechnology, 1996. **7**(3): p. 311-316.
- 107. Takeuchi, M., K. Hamana, and A. Hiraishi, *Proposal of the genus Sphingomonas sensu stricto and three new genera, Sphingobium, Novosphingobium and Sphingopyxis, on the basis of phylogenetic and chemotaxonomic analyses.* International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 2001. **51**(4): p. 1405-1417.
- 108. Gai, Z., et al., Genome sequence of Sphingobium yanoikuyae XLDN2-5, an efficient carbazole-degrading strain. J Bacteriol, 2011. **193**(22): p. 6404-5.
- 109. Kirimura, K., et al., Selective and continuous degradation of carbazole contained in petroleum oil by resting cells of Sphingomonas sp. CDH-7. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 1999. **63**(9): p. 1563-8.
- Bünz, P.V. and A.M. Cook, *Dibenzofuran 4, 4a-dioxygenase from Sphingomonas sp. strain RW1: angular dioxygenation by a three-component enzyme system*. Journal of bacteriology, 1993. 175(20): p. 6467-6475.
- 111. Wittich, R.-M., et al., *Metabolism of dibenzo-p-dioxin by Sphingomonas sp. strain RW1*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1992. **58**(3): p. 1005-1010.
- 112. Gai, Z., et al., Microbial transformation of benzothiophenes, with carbazole as the auxiliary substrate, by Sphingomonas sp. strain XLDN2-5. Microbiology, 2008. 154(12): p. 3804-3812.
- 113. Salam, L.B., et al., *Carbazole angular dioxygenation and mineralization by bacteria isolated from hydrocarbon-contaminated tropical African soil*. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, 2014. **21**(15): p. 9311-24.
- 114. Ramos, J.-L., J.B. Goldberg, and A. Filloux, *Pseudomonas: Volume 7: New Aspects of Pseudomonas Biology*. 2014: Springer.
- 115. Ouchiyama, N., et al., *Biodegradation of carbazole by Pseudomonas spp. CA06 and CA10*. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 1993. **57**(3): p. 455-460.
- 116. Li, L., P. Xu, and H.D. Blankespoor, *Degradation of carbazole in the presence of non-aqueous phase liquids by Pseudomonas sp.* Biotechnol Lett, 2004. **26**(7): p. 581-4.
- 117. Holland, H.L., et al., *Biotransformation of polycyclic aromatic compounds by fungi*. Xenobiotica, 1986. **16**(8): p. 733-741.

- 118. Yang, W. and P.J. Davis, *Microbial models of mammalian metabolism. Biotransformations of N-methylcarbazole using the fungus Cunninghamella echinulata.* Drug metabolism and disposition, 1992. **20**(1): p. 38-46.
- 119. Resnick, S.M., D.S. Torok, and D.T. Gibson, Oxidation of carbazole to 3hydroxycarbazole by naphthalene 1,2-dioxygenase and biphenyl 2,3-dioxygenase. FEMS Microbiol Lett, 1993. **113**(3): p. 297-302.
- Larentis, A., et al., Evaluation of growth, carbazole biodegradation and anthranilic acid production by Pseudomonas stutzeri. Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering, 2011.
 28(1): p. 37-44.
- 121. Kobayashi, T., et al., *Isolation of bacteria degrading carbazole under microaerobic conditions, ie nitrogen gas substituted conditions.* Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 1995. **59**(5): p. 932-933.
- 122. Grifoll, M., et al., *Actions of a versatile fluorene-degrading bacterial isolate on polycyclic aromatic compounds*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 1995. **61**(10): p. 3711-3723.
- 123. Shotbolt-Brown, J., D.W. Hunter, and J. Aislabie, *Isolation and description of carbazoledegrading bacteria*. Canadian journal of microbiology, 1996. **42**(1): p. 79-82.
- 124. Gieg, L.M., A. Otter, and P.M. Fedorak, *Carbazole degradation by Pseudomonas sp. LD2: metabolic characteristics and the identification of some metabolites.* Environmental science & technology, 1996. **30**(2): p. 575-585.
- 125. Ouchiyama, N., S. Miyachi, and T. Omori, *Cloning and nucleotide sequence of carbazole catabolic genes from Pseudomonas stutzeri strain OM1, isolated from activated sludge.* J Gen Appl Microbiol, 1998. **44**(1): p. 57-63.
- 126. Shepherd, J.M. and G. Lloyd-Jones, *Novel carbazole degradation genes of Sphingomonas CB3: sequence analysis, transcription, and molecular ecology.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1998. **247**(1): p. 129-35.
- 127. Schneider, J., et al., *Biodegradation of carbazole by Ralstonia sp. RJGII.123 isolated from a hydrocarbon contaminated soil.* Can J Microbiol, 2000. **46**(3): p. 269-77.
- Yoon, B.J., et al., Evaluation of carbazole degradation by Pseudomonas rhodesiae strain KK1 isolated from soil contaminated with coal tar. J Basic Microbiol, 2002. 42(6): p. 434-43.
- Habe, H., et al., Sphingomonas sp. strain KA1, carrying a carbazole dioxygenase gene homologue, degrades chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins in soil. FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2002. 211(1): p. 43-9.

- Kilbane, J.J., 2nd, et al., Isolation and characterization of Sphingomonas sp. GTIN11 capable of carbazole metabolism in petroleum. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2002. 297(2): p. 242-8.
- 131. Fuse, H., et al., *Degradation of chlorinated biphenyl, dibenzofuran, and dibenzo-p-dioxin by marine bacteria that degrade biphenyl, carbazole, or dibenzofuran.* Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 2003. **67**(5): p. 1121-1125.
- 132. Bressler, D.C., et al., *Denitrogenation of carbazole by combined biological and catalytic treatment: Bio-upgrading of petroleum*. Preprints-American Chemical Society. Division of Petroleum Chemistry, 2003. **48**(1): p. 44-46.
- 133. Jensen, A.M., K.W. Finster, and U. Karlson, *Degradation of carbazole, dibenzothiophene, and dibenzofuran at low temperature by Pseudomonas sp. strain C3211.* Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 2003. **22**(4): p. 730-735.
- 134. Yamazoe, A., O. Yagi, and H. Oyaizu, *Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons* by a newly isolated dibenzofuran-utilizing Janibacter sp. strain YY-1. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2004. **65**(2): p. 211-218.
- 135. Inoue, K., et al., *Divergent structures of carbazole degradative car operons isolated from gram-negative bacteria.* Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 2004. **68**(7): p. 1467-80.
- 136. Lobastova, T.G., et al., *Hydroxylation of carbazoles by Aspergillus flavus VKM F-1024*. FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2004. **235**(1): p. 51-6.
- 137. Inoue, K., et al., *Diversity of carbazole-degrading bacteria having the car gene cluster: isolation of a novel gram-positive carbazole-degrading bacterium.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2005. **245**(1): p. 145-53.
- 138. Da Cunha, C.D., et al., *Oil biodegradation by Bacillus strains isolated from the rock of an oil reservoir located in a deep-water production basin in Brazil.* Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2006. **73**(4): p. 949-959.
- 139. Santos, S.C., et al., *Characterization of Gordonia sp. strain F.5.25.8 capable of dibenzothiophene desulfurization and carbazole utilization*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, 2006. **71**(3): p. 355-62.
- 140. Seo, J.-S., et al., *Degradation of dibenzothiophene and carbazole by Arthrobacter sp. P1-1*. International biodeterioration & biodegradation, 2006. **58**(1): p. 36-43.
- 141. Castorena, G., et al., *Carbazole biodegradation in gas oil/water biphasic media by a new isolated bacterium Burkholderia sp. strain IMP5GC.* J Appl Microbiol, 2006. **100**(4): p. 739-45.
- 142. Gai, Z., et al., Cometabolic degradation of dibenzofuran and dibenzothiophene by a newly isolated carbazole-degrading Sphingomonas sp. strain. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2007. 73(9): p. 2832-8.

- 143. Baboshin, M., et al., *Conversion of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by Sphingomonas sp. VKM B-2434*. Biodegradation, 2008. **19**(4): p. 567-576.
- 144. 石原篤, et al., *Degradation of carbazole by Novosphingobium sp. strain NIY3*. Journal of the Japan Petroleum Institute, 2008. **51**(3): p. 174-179.
- 145. Li, Y.-G., et al., *Biodegradation of carbazole in oil/water biphasic system by a newly isolated bacterium Klebsiella sp. LSSE-H2*. Biochemical Engineering Journal, 2008. 41(2): p. 166-170.
- 146. Guo, W., et al., Isolation and description of a stable carbazole-degrading microbial consortium consisting of Chryseobacterium sp. NCY and Achromobacter sp. NCW. Curr Microbiol, 2008. **57**(3): p. 251-7.
- 147. Maeda, R., et al., *Comparison of marine and terrestrial carbazole-degrading bacteria*. Curr Res Technol Educ Top Appl Microbiol Microb Biotechnol, 2010. **2**: p. 1311-1321.
- 148. Yang, M., et al., Isolation and identification of a carbazole degradation gene cluster from Sphingomonas sp.JS1. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2009. 25(9): p. 1625-1631.
- 149. Waldau, D., et al., *Characterization of new oxidation products of 9H-carbazole and structure related compounds by biphenyl-utilizing bacteria*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, 2009. **81**(6): p. 1023-31.
- 150. Singh, G.B., et al., *Evaluation of carbazole degradation by Enterobacter sp. isolated from hydrocarbon contaminated soil.* Recent Research in Science and Technology, 2011. **3**(11).
- 151. Nam, I.-H., et al., *Biological removal of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins from incinerator fly ash by Sphingomonas wittichii RW1*. Water research, 2005. **39**(19): p. 4651-4660.
- 152. Zhao, C., et al., *Biodegradation of carbazole by the seven Pseudomonas sp. strains and their denitrification potential.* J Hazard Mater, 2011. **190**(1-3): p. 253-9.
- 153. Patel, V., S. Cheturvedula, and D. Madamwar, *Phenanthrene degradation by Pseudoxanthomonas sp. DMVP2 isolated from hydrocarbon contaminated sediment of Amlakhadi canal, Gujarat, India.* Journal of hazardous materials, 2012. **201**: p. 43-51.
- 154. Farajzadeh, Z. and H.R. Karbalaei-Heidari, *Isolation and characterization of a new Achromobacter sp. strain CAR1389 as a carbazole-degrading bacterium.* World J Microbiol Biotechnol, 2012. **28**(10): p. 3075-80.
- 155. Khan, S., et al., *High-level expression, purification and characterization of carbazole dioxygenase, a three components dioxygenase, of Pseudomonas GBS.5.* Biotechnol Lett, 2015. **37**(10): p. 1945-52.

- 156. Zawadzka, K., et al., Carbazole hydroxylation by the filamentous fungi of the Cunninghamella species. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, 2015.
- 157. Fedorak, P.M. and D.W. Westlake, *Microbial degradation of alkyl carbazoles in Norman wells crude oil*. Appl Environ Microbiol, 1984. **47**(4): p. 858-62.
- 158. Li, L., et al., *Degradation of carbazole and its derivatives by a Pseudomonas sp.* Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, 2006. **73**(4): p. 941-8.
- Inoue, K., et al., Characterization of novel carbazole catabolism genes from gram-positive carbazole degrader Nocardioides aromaticivorans IC177. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2006. 72(5): p. 3321-9.
- 160. Bai, Y., et al., *Removal of pyridine and quinoline by bio-zeolite composed of mixed degrading bacteria and modified zeolite.* Journal of hazardous materials, 2010. **181**(1): p. 916-922.
- Hong, Q., et al., *Isolation of a biphenyl-degrading bacterium, Achromobacter sp. BP3, and cloning of the bph gene cluster*. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, 2009.
 63(4): p. 365-370.
- 162. Ilori, M.O., G.K. Robinson, and S.A. Adebusoye, *Degradation and mineralization of 2-chloro-, 3-chloro-and 4-chlorobiphenylby a newly characterized natural bacterial strain isolated from electrical transformer fluid-contaminated soil.* Journal of Environmental Sciences, 2008. **20**(10): p. 1250-1257.
- 163. Eixarch, H. and M. Constantí, *Biodegradation of MTBE by Achromobacter xylosoxidans MCM1/1 induces synthesis of proteins that may be related to cell survival.* Process Biochemistry, 2010. **45**(5): p. 794-798.
- 164. Kaczorek, E., et al., *The impact of long-term contact of Achromobacter sp. 4 (2010) with diesel oil–Changes in biodegradation, surface properties and hexadecane monooxygenase activity.* International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, 2013. **78**: p. 7-16.
- Larentis, A.L., et al., Influence of induction conditions on the expression of carbazole dioxygenase components (CarAa, CarAc, and CarAd) from Pseudomonas stutzeri in recombinant Escherichia coli using experimental design. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol, 2011. 38(8): p. 1045-54.
- 166. ISHIHARA, A., et al., *Novosphingobium sp. NIY3 株を用いたカルバゾールの分解反 応*. J Jpn Pet Inst, 2008. **51**(3).
- 167. von der Weid, I., et al., *Identification and biodegradation potential of a novel strain of Dietzia cinnamea isolated from a petroleum-contaminated tropical soil.* Systematic and applied microbiology, 2007. **30**(4): p. 331-339.

- 168. Procópio, L., et al., Insight from the draft genome of Dietzia cinnamea P4 reveals mechanisms of survival in complex tropical soil habitats and biotechnology potential. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek, 2012. 101(2): p. 289-302.
- 169. Pollack, J.K., S.D. Harris, and M.R. Marten, *Autophagy in filamentous fungi*. Fungal Genet Biol, 2009. **46**(1): p. 1-8.
- Parshikov, I.A., A.I. Netrusov, and J.B. Sutherland, *Microbial transformation of azaarenes* and potential uses in pharmaceutical synthesis. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, 2012. 95(4): p. 871-89.
- 171. Maeda, R., et al., *Novel marine carbazole-degrading bacteria*. FEMS microbiology letters, 2009. **292**(2): p. 203-209.
- 172. Gibson, F. and J. Pittard, *Pathways of biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids and vitamins and their control in microorganisms*. Bacteriological reviews, 1968. **32**(4 Pt 2): p. 465.
- Nojiri, H. and T. Omori, *Molecular bases of aerobic bacterial degradation of dioxins: involvement of angular dioxygenation*. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 2002. 66(10): p. 2001-2016.
- 174. Nojiri, H., Structural and molecular genetic analyses of the bacterial carbazole degradation system. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 2012. **76**(1): p. 1-18.
- 175. Sato, S.-I., et al., *Identification and characterization of genes encoding carbazole 1, 9adioxygenase in Pseudomonas sp. strain CA10.* Journal of bacteriology, 1997. **179**(15): p. 4850-4858.
- 176. Nojiri, H., et al., *Structure of the terminal oxygenase component of angular dioxygenase, carbazole 1, 9a-dioxygenase.* Journal of molecular biology, 2005. **351**(2): p. 355-370.
- 177. Nam, J.-W., et al., *Purification and characterization of carbazole 1, 9a-dioxygenase, a three-component dioxygenase system of Pseudomonas resinovorans strain CA10*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2002. **68**(12): p. 5882-5890.
- 178. Larentis, A.L., T.L.M. Alves, and O.B. Martins, *Cloning and expression of meta-cleavage enzyme (CarB) of carbazole degradation pathway from Pseudomonas stutzeri*. Brazilian Archives of biology and technology, 2005. **48**(SPE): p. 127-134.
- 179. Obata, H., H. Kawahara, and A. Sugiyama, *Microbial transformation of carbazole to indole-3-acetic acid by Flavobacterium sp. OCM-1.* Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 1997. **61**(3): p. 525-526.
- Johansen, S.S., et al., *Heteroaromatic compounds and their biodegradation products in creosote-contaminated groundwater*. Toxicological & Environmental Chemistry, 1998.
 66(1-4): p. 195-228.

- 181. Fetzner, S., Bacterial degradation of pyridine, indole, quinoline, and their derivatives under different redox conditions. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 1998. 49(3): p. 237-250.
- 182. Sutherland, J., J. Freeman, and A. Williams, *Biotransformation of isoquinoline*, *phenanthridine*, *phthalazine*, *quinazoline*, *and quinoxaline by Streptomyces viridosporus*. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 1998. **49**(4): p. 445-449.
- 183. Willumsen, P.A., J.K. Nielsen, and U. Karlson, *Degradation of phenanthrene-analogue azaarenes by Mycobacterium gilvum strain LB307T under aerobic conditions*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2001. **56**(3-4): p. 539-544.
- 184. Anyanwu, I.N. and K.T. Semple, *Biodegradation of Phenanthrene-Nitrogen-Containing Analogues in Soil.* Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 2015. **226**(8).
- 185. Kumar, R., M. Kaur, and M. Kumari, *Acridine: A versatile heterocyclic nucleus*. Acta Pol. Pharm, 2012. **69**(1): p. 3-9.
- 186. Boyd, D.R., et al., *Synthesis and solvolysis of acridine 1, 2-and 3, 4-oxides: crystal structure of acridine 1, 2-oxide.* Journal of organic chemistry, 1994. **59**(5): p. 984-990.
- 187. Bleeker, E.A., et al., *Towards an improvement of the risk assessment of polycyclic (hetero) aromatic hydrocarbons.* Report, 2003. **1**: p. 27-32.
- 188. Sutherland, J.B., et al., *Biotransformation of acridine by Mycobacterium vanbaalenii*. Environ Toxicol Chem, 2009. **28**(1): p. 61-4.
- 189. Zhang, B., et al., *Acridine and its derivatives: a patent review (2009–2013)*. Expert opinion on therapeutic patents, 2014. **24**(6): p. 647-664.
- Chiron, S., C. Minero, and D. Vione, *Photodegradation processes of the antiepileptic drug carbamazepine, relevant to estuarine waters*. Environmental science & technology, 2006.
 40(19): p. 5977-5983.
- 191. Blaylock, B., M. Frank, and J. McCarthy, *Comparative toxicity of copper and acridine to fish, Daphnia and algae.* Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 1985. **4**(1): p. 63-71.
- 192. Kraak, M.H., et al., Short-term and chronic exposure of the zebra mussel (Dreissena polymorpha) to acridine: effects and metabolism. Aquatic Toxicology, 1997. **37**(1): p. 9-20.
- 193. Feldmannova, M., et al., *Effects of N-heterocyclic polyaromatic hydrocarbons on survival, reproduction, and biochemical parameters in Daphnia magna.* Environmental toxicology, 2006. **21**(4): p. 425-431.
- 194. Willumsen, P.A., et al., *Isolation and taxonomic affiliation of N-heterocyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-transforming bacteria*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, 2005. **67**(3): p. 420-8.

- 195. Schultz, T.W., M. Cajina-Quezada, and J.N. Dumont, *Structure-toxicity relationships of selected nitrogenous heterocyclic compounds*. Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology, 1980. **9**(5): p. 591-598.
- 196. Ferguson, L.R. and W.A. Denny, *The genetic toxicology of acridines*. Mutation Research/Reviews in Genetic Toxicology, 1991. **258**(2): p. 123-160.
- 197. Knezovich, J.P., et al., Anaerobic microbial degradation of acridine and the application of remote fiber spectroscopy to monitor the transformation process. Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 1990. **9**(10): p. 1235-1243.
- 198. Van Herwijnen, R., et al., *Estimation of kinetic parameter for the biotransformation of three-ring azaarenes by the phenanthrene-degrading strain Sphingomonas SP LH128.* Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 2004. **23**(2): p. 331-338.
- 199. Bastiaens, L., et al., Isolation of adherent polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH)degrading bacteria using PAH-sorbing carriers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 2000. **66**(5): p. 1834-1843.
- 200. Heitkamp, M.A., W. Franklin, and C.E. Cerniglia, *Microbial metabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: isolation and characterization of a pyrene-degrading bacterium*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1988. **54**(10): p. 2549-2555.
- 201. Brezna, B., et al., *Molecular characterization of cytochrome P450 genes in the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degrading Mycobacterium vanbaalenii PYR-1*. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 2006. **71**(4): p. 522.
- 202. Bianchi, D., et al., Oxidation of polycyclic aromatic heterocycles by Pseudomonas fluorescens TTC1. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 1997. **47**(5): p. 596-599.
- 203. Bestetti, G., et al., *Bioconversion of substituted naphthalenes to the corresponding 1, 2-dihydro-1, 2-dihydroxy derivatives. Determination of the regio-and stereochemistry of the oxidation reactions.* Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 1995. **44**(3): p. 306-313.
- 204. Bestetti, G., et al., *Bioconversion of substituted naphthalenes to the corresponding salicylic acids*. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 1994. **40**(6): p. 791-793.
- 205. Sutherland, J.B., et al., *Identification of metabolites produced from acridine by Cunninghamella elegans*. Mycologia, 1994: p. 117-120.
- 206. Bleeker, E.A., et al., *Toxic and genotoxic effects of azaarenes: isomers and metabolites.* Polycyclic Aromatic Compounds, 1999. **13**(3): p. 191-203.
- Kim, S.-J., et al., Molecular cloning and expression of genes encoding a novel dioxygenase involved in low-and high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation in Mycobacterium vanbaalenii PYR-1. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2006. 72(2): p. 1045-1054.

- 208. Poupin, P., et al., *Degradation of Morpholine by an EnvironmentalMycobacterium Strain Involves a Cytochrome P-450.* Applied and environmental microbiology, 1998. **64**(1): p. 159-165.
- 209. Katritzky, A.R., M. Balasubramanian, and M. Siskin, *Aqueous high-temperature chemistry* of carbo-and heterocycles. 2. Monosubstituted benzenes: Benzyl alcohol, benzaldehyde, and benzoic acid. Energy & Fuels, 1990. **4**(5): p. 499-505.
- 210. Mulder, P., et al., *The L-type calcium channel blockers, Hantzsch 1, 4-dihydropyridines, are not peroxyl radical-trapping, chain-breaking antioxidants.* Chemical research in toxicology, 2006. **19**(1): p. 79-85.
- 211. van Herwijnen, R., et al., Estimation of kinetic parameter for the biotransformation of three-ring azaarenes by the phenanthrene-degrading strain Sphingomonas sp. LH128. Environ Toxicol Chem, 2004. 23(2): p. 331-8.
- 212. Cerniglia, C.E. and D.T. Gibson, *Metabolism of naphthalene by cell extracts of Cunninghamella elegans*. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics, 1978. **186**(1): p. 121-127.
- 213. Wackett, L. and D. Gibson, *Metabolism of xenobiotic compounds by enzymes in cell extracts of the fungus Cunninghamella elegans*. Biochemical Journal, 1982. **205**(1): p. 117-122.
- 214. Cerniglia, C.E., *Initial reactions in the oxidation of anthracene by Cunninghamella elegans*. Microbiology, 1982. **128**(9): p. 2055-2061.
- 215. Sutherland, J.B., et al., *N*-oxidation of quinoline and isoquinoline by Cunninghamella elegans. Experimental mycology, 1994. **18**(3): p. 271-274.
- 216. Kaiser, J.P., Y. Feng, and J.M. Bollag, *Microbial metabolism of pyridine, quinoline, acridine, and their derivatives under aerobic and anaerobic conditions*. Microbiol Rev, 1996. **60**(3): p. 483-98.
- 217. Pictet, A. and H. Ankersmit, *Ueber das Phenanthridin*. European Journal of Organic Chemistry, 1891. **266**(1-2): p. 138-153.
- 218. Vlaardingen, V., et al., *Property-toxicity relationships of azaarenes to the green alga Scenedesmus acuminatus*. Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 1996. **15**(11): p. 2035-2042.
- Bleeker, E.A., et al., *Toxicity of azaarenes*. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 2002b, 2001. 173: p. 39-83.
- 220. Sorouraddin, M.-H., et al., *Simultaneous spectrophotometric determination of phenanthridine, phenanthridinone and phenanthridine N-oxide using multivariate calibration methods.* Open Chemistry, 2010. **8**(1): p. 207-213.

- 221. Adams, E., E. LaVoie, and D. Hoffmann, *Mutagenicity and metabolism of azaphenanthrenes*. Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons: formation, metabolism and measurement. Battelle, Columbus, 1983: p. 73-87.
- 222. Sutherland, J.B., D.L. Crawford, and A.L. Pometto, *Catabolism of substituted benzoic* acids by Streptomyces species. Applied and environmental microbiology, 1981. **41**(2): p. 442-448.
- 223. Sutherland, J.B., et al., *Fungal biotransformation of benzo[f]quinoline, benzo[h]quinoline, and phenanthridine*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, 2005. **67**(3): p. 405-11.
- 224. de Voogt, P., et al., Formation and identification of azaarene transformation products from aquatic invertebrate and algal metabolism. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl, 1999. **724**(2): p. 265-74.
- 225. LaVoie, E., et al., *Metabolites of phenanthridine formed by rat liver homogenate*. Drug metabolism and disposition, 1985. **13**(1): p. 71-75.
- 226. Seixas, G.M., et al., *The aza-arenes as mutagens for Salmonella typhimurium*. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology, 1982. **102**(3): p. 201-212.
- 227. Benson, J.M., et al., *Metabolism of phenanthridine to phenanthridone by rat lung and liver microsomes after induction with benzo [a] pyrene and aroclor*. Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 1983. **68**(1): p. 36-42.
- 228. Kumar, S., et al., *Mutagenicity and tumorigenicity of dihydrodiols, diol epoxides, and other derivatives of benzo (f) quinoline and benzo (h) quinoline.* Cancer research, 1989. **49**(1): p. 20-24.
- 229. Shindo, K., et al., Oxygenation reactions of various tricyclic fused aromatic compounds using Escherichia coli and Streptomyces lividans transformants carrying several arene dioxygenase genes. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 2001. **65**(11): p. 2472-2481.
- 230. Richardson, S.D., et al., *Recovery of phenanthrene-degrading bacteria after simulated in situ persulfate oxidation in contaminated soil*. Environmental science & technology, 2010.
 45(2): p. 719-725.
- 231. Adrion, A.C., et al., *Screening nonionic surfactants for enhanced biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons remaining in soil after conventional biological treatment*. Environmental science & technology, 2016. **50**(7): p. 3838-3845.
- 232. Singleton, D.R., S.D. Richardson, and M.D. Aitken, *Effects of enrichment with phthalate on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon biodegradation in contaminated soil*. Biodegradation, 2008. **19**(4): p. 577-587.
- Altschul, S.F., et al., *Basic local alignment search tool*. Journal of molecular biology, 1990.
 215(3): p. 403-410.

- 234. Cole, J.R., et al., *The Ribosomal Database Project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis.* Nucleic acids research, 2009. **37**(suppl 1): p. D141-D145.
- 235. Singleton, D.R., L.G. Ramirez, and M.D. Aitken, *Characterization of a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation gene cluster in a phenanthrene-degrading Acidovorax strain*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2009. **75**(9): p. 2613-2620.
- 236. Corteselli, E.M., M.D. Aitken, and D.R. Singleton, *Description of Immundisolibacter cernigliae gen. nov., sp. nov., a high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbondegrading bacterium within the class Gammaproteobacteria, and proposal of Immundisolibacterales ord. nov. and Immundisolibacteraceae fam. nov.* International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 2016.
- 237. Wang, D. and O. Meresz, Occurrence and potential uptake of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons of highway traffic origin by proximally grown food crops [Tomatoes, onions, beets, soil, Canada]. 1982.
- 238. Bleeker, E.A.J., *Toxicity of azaarenes: mechanisms and metabolism.* 1999.
- 239. Colin, H., J.M. Schmitter, and G. Guiochon, *Liquid chromatography of azaarenes*. Analytical Chemistry, 1981. **53**(4): p. 625-631.
- 240. Gallampois, C.M., et al., Integrated biological-chemical approach for the isolation and selection of polyaromatic mutagens in surface waters. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry, 2013. **405**(28): p. 9101-9112.
- 241. Semple, K.T., et al., *Defining bioavailability and bioaccessibility of contaminated soil and sediment is complicated.* Environmental Science & Technology, 2004. **38**(12): p. 228A-231A.
- 242. Chen, H.-Y. and M.R. Preston, *Azaarenes in the aerosol of an urban atmosphere*. Environmental science & technology, 1998. **32**(5): p. 577-583.
- 243. Anyanwu, I., O. Clifford, and K. Semple. *Effects of three ringed PAH and N-PAHs on earthworm (E. fetida) in soil.* in *Proceedings of the international conference on environmental pollution and remediation. International Academy of Science Engineering and Technology, Toronto.* 2013.
- 244. Singleton, D.R., S.D. Richardson, and M.D. Aitken, *Pyrosequence analysis of bacterial communities in aerobic bioreactors treating polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-contaminated soil*. Biodegradation, 2011. **22**(6): p. 1061-1073.
- 245. Kim, J.M., et al., Influence of soil components on the biodegradation of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and o-, m-, and p-xylenes by the newly isolated bacterium Pseudoxanthomonas spadix BD-a59. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2008. 74(23): p. 7313-7320.

- 246. Young, C.C., et al., *Pseudoxanthomonas spadix sp. nov., isolated from oil-contaminated soil.* International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology, 2007. **57**(8): p. 1823-1827.
- 247. Nopcharoenkul, W., P. Netsakulnee, and O. Pinyakong, *Diesel oil removal by immobilized Pseudoxanthomonas sp. RN402*. Biodegradation, 2013. **24**(3): p. 387-397.
- 248. Meng, X., et al., *Di* (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate biodegradation and denitrification by a *Pseudoxanthomonas sp. strain.* Bioresource technology, 2015. **180**: p. 356-359.
- 249. Jones, M.D., et al., *Multiple DNA extractions coupled with stable-isotope probing of anthracene-degrading bacteria in contaminated soil*. Applied and environmental microbiology, 2011. **77**(9): p. 2984-2991.
- Jones, M.D., et al., Stable-isotope probing of the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbondegrading bacterial guild in a contaminated soil. Environmental microbiology, 2011. 13(10): p. 2623-2632.
- 251. Corteselli, E.M., M.D. Aitken, and D.R. Singleton, *Rugosibacter aromaticivorans gen. nov., sp. nov., a bacterium within the family Rhodocyclaceae, isolated from contaminated soil, capable of degrading aromatic compounds.* International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 2017. **67**(2): p. 311-318.
- 252. O'Loughlin, E.J., S.R. Kehrmeyer, and G.K. Sims, *Isolation, characterization, and substrate utilization of a quinoline-degrading bacterium*. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, 1996. **38**(2): p. 107-118.
- 253. Liu, W., C. Huang, and X. Jin, *Electrospinning of grooved polystyrene fibers: effect of solvent systems*. Nanoscale research letters, 2015. **10**(1): p. 237.
- 254. Kalyuzhnaya, M.G., et al., *Methyloversatilis universalis gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel taxon within the Betaproteobacteria represented by three methylotrophic isolates.* International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology, 2006. **56**(11): p. 2517-2522.
- 255. Cai, T., et al., *Biodegradation of benazolin-ethyl by strain Methyloversatilis sp. cd-1 isolated from activated sludge.* Current microbiology, 2011. **62**(2): p. 570-577.
- 256. Schuster, S.C., *Next-generation sequencing transforms today's biology*. Nature methods, 2008. **5**(1): p. 16.